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Deloitte.

Chartered Accountants &
Statutory Audit Firm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLANBIA CO-OPERATIVE
SOCIETY LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of Glanbia Co-Operative Society Limited (the ‘society’)

In our opinion the Group and Parent society financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the society and
Group as at 30 December 2017 and of the profit of the Group for the year then ended; and

e have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting frameworks.

The financial statements we have audited comprise:
The Group financial statements:

the Group income statement;

the Group statement of comprehensive income;

the Group balance sheet;

the Group statement of changes in equity;

the Group statement of cashflows;

and the related notes 1 to 38, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set
out in Note 2.

The Parent society financial statements:

the income statement;

the statement of other comprehensive income;

the balance sheet;

the statement of changes in equity;

and the related notes 1 to 23, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set
out in Note 1.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial
statements is Irish law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union (“the applicable financial reporting framework”). The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent society financial statements is Irish law and
FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” issued by the Financial Reporting Council ("the applicable
financial reporting framework"”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in
the “Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the society and Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Members of Deloitte Tohmatsu
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Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

Materiality

Scoping

Significant
changes in our
approach

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
Event Driven:

e Acquisition accounting & valuation of intangible assets on
acquisitions;

Recurring:

e Appropriateness of taxation provisions;

e Risk of potential impairment to the carrying value of goodwill &
intangible assets;

e Appropriateness of key judgements in the underlying assumptions
relating to retirement benefit obligations;

e Risk that the convertible bond issued is not valued correctly at year
end; and

e Revenue recognition;and
Risk that the convertible bond issued is not valued correctly at year
end.

The materiality that we used in the current year was €16.18m which was
determined on the basis of profit before tax and exceptional items.

We determined the scope of our Group audit by obtaining an
understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide
internal financial controls, and assessing the risks of material
misstatement at the Group level. Based on that assessment, we focused
our Group audit scope primarily on the audit work in 3 components
subject to a full audit.

This is unchanged from the prior year.

Key audit matters:

We have included a new key audit matter in the current year arising from
the acquisition of subsidiaries Amazing Grass and Body and Fit by
Glanbia Performance Nutrition within Glanbia plc.

We have removed patronage bonuses as a key audit matter as it is no
longer considered significant because the quantum of the balance
reduced in the year due to rising milk prices.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Ireland)
require us to report to you where:

» the Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or

e the Board of Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group or society’s ability
to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current financial year and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement we identified (whether or not due to fraud),
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter = The Group acqulred 100% of the equity of Grass Advantage LLC (Amazmg

description Grass) on 6 January 2017 for consideration of $132m and 100% of the
~ equity of B&F Vastgoed B.V. (Body & Fit) on 31 March 2017 for
@ consideration of €43.7m.

Both acquisitions include intangible assets and goodwill. Intangible assets
recognised by the Group include customer relationships or lists, intellectual
property and brand names. Valuing these intangible assets is a subjective
process requiring a high level of estimation and judgement by the Directors.
Both acquisitions required the Group to allocate the excess of purchase price
over the fair value of the net assets acquired, firstly to intangible assets and
the residual to goodwill. The treatment as goodwill or intangible assets has
a significant impact on the subsequent amortisation or impairment policy
applied. Therefore there is a risk that the allocation between intangible
assets and goodwill is incorrect.

Refer also to page 16 (business combinations accounting policy), note 3
(Critical accounting estimates and judgements) and notes 14 and 34 to the
financial statements.

How the scope of We evaluated the design and determined the implementation of key

our audit controls in place in relation to the valuation process. We, in conjunction

responded to the with our valuation specialists, reviewed the purchase price allocation and

key audit matter challenged the key assumptions utilised in the acquisition model to value
the split between goodwill and other intangible assets. We assessed
whether all assets had been appropriately identified and evaluated if

s, appropriate methodologies were used in the valuation of the assets. We
(E_——) also tested the accounting treatment of acquisitions for compliance with
IFRS 3.

Based on our procedures completed we assessed if the purchase price
allocations performed by the Directors are reasonable.

We also evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the d|sclosures

Key observations We have no observations that impact on our audit in respect of the
-~ amounts and disclosures related to acquisition accounting and valuation of

Q@ intangible assets on acquisitions.




Deloitte

Key audit matter
description

&)

How the scope of
our audit

responded to the
key audit matter

The Group operates across numerous multinational jurisdictions, the most
significant of which are Ireland and the USA.

The Directors apply significant judgement in assessing current and deferred
tax risks and exposures in relation to the interpretation of local and
international tax laws, rates and treaties relating to worldwide provisions
for uncertain tax positions.

In addition, on 22 December 2017, the US signed into law the Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act ("The US Tax Act”). This enactment introduces significant changes
to the US tax code including a reduction of the US corporate income tax
rate from 35% to 21%. The US Tax Act is an extensive legislative change
which requires interpretation and judgement, most notably in relation to
deferred tax, the impact on US state taxes, and uncertain tax positions.

There is a risk that tax authorities could have different interpretations to
those of the Directors resuiting in potential misstatement of tax provisions.

Refer also to Page 23 (Income taxes accounting policy), note 3 (Critical
accounting estimates and judgements) and notes 11 and 25 to the financial
statements.

To obtain evidence over the appropriateness of the Directors’ assumptions
in determining provisions for uncertain tax positions, we obtained an
understanding of the Group’s tax strategy, tax operating models and the
Directors’ assessment of related tax risks and exposures across the
Group.

We engaged our Irish and Deloitte International tax specialists as part of
our audit team, including US tax specialists to analyse and challenge the
appropriateness of the assumptions made by the Directors in determining
adjustments to current and deferred tax provisions, including provisions
for uncertain tax positions as a result of the US Tax Act.

We challenged and evaluated Directors” assumptions and estimates,
including external advice obtained, in respect of tax risks and related
provisions.

We focused particularly on the Directors’ judgements made in relation to
transfer pricing risks and interpretations of relevant tax laws, and the
Directors’ assessment of likely outcomes for uncertain tax positions in key
jurisdictions where the Group has significant trading operations.

We inspected relevant correspondence between the Group and relevant
tax authorities. :

We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of current and deferred tax
disclosures for compliance with the relevant accounting standards,
including the treatment of tax credits arising as a result of the US Tax Act,
as an exceptional item in the Group income statement.

Key observations

We have no observations that impact on our audit in respect of the
amounts and disclosures related to the taxation provisions.




Deloitte.

Key audit matter
description

@

How the scope of
our audit

responded to the
key audit matter

The Group s goodW|ll and mtanglble assets of €984m Wthh is held across
fourteen individual Cash Generating Units (CGUs), represents
approximately 29% of the Group's total assets at year end. The
Performance Nutrition business within Glanbia plc accounts for 86% of total
goodwill and intangible assets as it has been the fastest growing and most
acquisitive division of the Group over recent years.

There is a risk that incorrect inputs or inappropriate assumptions could be
included in the Group’s impairment assessment model leading to an
impairment charge that has not been included in the Group’s financial
statements.

When a review for impairment is carried out, the recoverable amount of
each CGU is-compared to its carrying value. The recoverable amount is
determined based on value in use calculations which rely on Director’s
assumptions and estimates of future trading performance.

The key assumptions utilised by the Directors in the impairment reviews
are discount rates and growth rates.

Refer also to page 18 (Intangible assets accounting policy), note 3
(Critical accounting estimates and judgements) and note 14 to the
financial statements.

We evaluated the methodology applied by the Directors in preparing the
value in use calculations and the judgements applied in determining the
CGUs. In addition, we evaluated the design and determined the
implementation of controls in respect of the impairment review process
and the budgeting process upon which the Group’s discounted cash flow
model is based.

We performed a retrospective review of assumptions used in prior year
value in use calculations and compared these to actual outturn.

We challenged the underlying key assumptions within the Group’s
impairment model by developing an independent view of the Group
discount rates where we benchmarked the rates used by the Directors
against market data and comparable organisations.

We challenged cash flow projections by comparing them to historic rates
and Group strategic plans. We challenged the Group's forecasts with
reference to recent performance and trend analysis including historic
growth rates.

We assessed the reasonableness of related assumptions used in
determining terminal values.

We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the disclosures in relation
to goodwill and intangible assets for compliance with the relevant
accounting standards.

Key observations

We have no observations that lmpact on our audit in respect yect of the
amounts and disclosures related to carrying value of goodwill and
intangible assets.
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Revenue Recognition

Key audit matter The Group sells products to customers under a variety of contractual terms.

description Revenue is recognised net of discounts, rebates and other promotional
arrangements where they apply to sales contracts. Significant judgement is
@ required to determine the level of accruals required to settle these
arrangements with customers post year end, which impacts the amount of

revenue recognised in the period.

There is a risk that year end accruals relating to seiling arrangements, and
therefore revenue could be misstated either intentionally to achieve
performance targets, or as a result of error. Due to the level of different
contractual terms with customers across the Group there is a risk that
different revenue cut-off arrangements are not captured and recorded
correctly.

Refer also to page 23 (Revenue recognition accounting policy).

How the scope of We obtained an understanding of the various selling contracts and
our audit arrangements in place with customers across all divisions of the Group, and
responded to the of the internal controls and IT systems in place over the revenue processes
key audit matter to determine if revenue was appropriately recognised to refiect the terms
of contracts with customers and to ensure that the appropriate cut-off
procedures are applied and revenue at year end is not misstated.

% We evaluated the design and determined the implementation of controls
in respect of revenue recognition.

We tested year end accruals for settlement of rebates and other selling
arrangements and assessed whether there was any evidence of
management bias in key judgements made by management. We also tested
year end cut-off procedures and reviewed goods in transit at the year end
date to ensure transactions were recorded in the correct period.

We tested manual journal entries posted to revenue for any unusual items.
We tested higher risk transactions including consignment sales and agency
arrangements and assessed if these transactions were appropriately
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting standards.

In addition, we tested post year end credit notes and rebate payments to
identify any invalid sales transactions recorded in the period.

Key observations We have no observations that impact on our audit in respect of the

O amounts and disclosures related to revenue recognised.

| Retirement Benefit Ol;p"l.igati(_)'ns

Key audit matter The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes in Ireland. The
description net pension deficit relating to these schemes was €134.7 million at the
balance sheet date.

( There is a high degree of estimation and judgement by management in the
calculation of the pension liablities, particularly in the underlying actuarial
assumptions, specifically the discount rate, which are subject to high
volatility from small movements in assumptions.
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How the scope of
our audit

responded to the
key audit matter

®

There is a risk that pension plan liabilities are determined using l
inappropriate discount rates, leading to potential misstatement of the net '
pension deficit.

Refer also to page 21 (retirement benefit accounting policy), note 3

(Critical accounting estimates and judgements) and note 8 to the financial
statements.

We utilised Deloitte actuaries as part of our team to assist us in evaluating
the appropriateness of key actuarial assumptions with particular focus on
discount rates.

Our work included discussions with both Management and the Group's
external pension advisors to understand their processes and the
assumptions used in calculating retirement benefit liabilities.

We benchmar‘kéd key assumptions used against market and peer data
where available.

We tested the valuation of a sample of plan assets, including obtaining
independent valuations of investments held at year end.

We assessed whether managements’ disclosures in the financial
statements in respect of retirement benefit obligations were in
accordance with the relevant accounting standards.

Key observations

@

Key audit matter
description

&)

Bond Accounting '

We have no observations that impact on our audit in respect of the
amounts and disclosures related to retirement benefit obligations.

Glanbia Co-Operative Society Limited issued a €100m convertible bond in
June 2016, which is listed on the Global Exchange Market (GEM).

This convertible debt instrument includes a cash settlement option whereby
Glanbia Co-operative Society Limited may deliver either a fixed number of
shares to the holder, or an amount of cash equal to the market value of the
fixed number of shares on the date of conversion. Under IFRS this
convertible option is accounted for as a derivative liability. The convertible
debt is a hybrid instrument containing a host debt contract and a conversion
option component (written call option over Glanbia plc shares).

The conversion option element is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. The host bond is initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.

There is a risk that the conversion option has been valued incorrectly at
year-end under International Financial Reporting Standards.

Refer also to page 22 (derivatives accounting policy) and note 29 to the
financial statements.
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How the scope of We evaluated the design and determined the implementation of controls in

our audit respect of the valuation of the option at year-end.

responded to the

key audit matter We assessed the fair value of the option at the year end by agreement to a
valuation obtained from an independent third party.

We utilised Deloitte valuation and treasury specialists as part of our audit
team to assist us in our review of the valuation due to the complex and
specialised nature of the work involved.

We reviewed the accounting treatment and bond agreement to assess if
there were any current year changes that needed to be taken into account
in our assessment of the valuation of the bond.

We reviewed the presentation of the bond within the financial statements
under International Financial Reporting Standards.

Key observations We have no observations that impact on our audit in respect of the
s amounts and disclosures related to the bond accounting.

(@)
<>

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and not to express an opinion on individual accounts or
disclosures. Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the risks
described above, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters.

Our application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person, relying on the financial statements, would be
changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in
evaluating the results of our work.

We determined materiality for the Group to be €16.18m, which is approximately 5.5% of profit
before tax and exceptional items, and 1% of consolidated shareholders’ equity. We have considered
profit before tax and exceptionals to be the appropriate benchmark for determining materiality
because it is the most important measure for users of the Group’s financial statements. We have
considered quantitative and qualitative factors such as understanding the entity and its environment,
history of misstatements, complexity of the Group and reliability of the control environment.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all audit differences in excess of
€0.8m as well as differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified
when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit

We determined the scope of our Group audit by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its
environment, including Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the
Group level. Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audit scope primarily on the audit
work in 3 components which were subject to a full audit.

These components were selected based on coverage achieved and to provide an appropriate basis
for undertaking audit work to address the risks of material misstatement identified above. Our audit
work at the 3 components was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual unit
which were lower than Group materiality and ranged from €8.6m to €13.76m.
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At the Group level, we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures
to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the
aggregated financial information of the remaining components not subject to a full audit. Our audit
scoping subjected 90% of net assets and 91% of external revenue to testing.

The Group audit team attended planning meetings at the significant component locations during
the year and participated in audit meetings. In addition to our planning meetings, we included
component auditors in our team briefings, discussed their risk assessment, attended closing
meetings, and reviewed their audit working papers.

Other informa-tion

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such'internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. v

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and
Parent society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend
to liquidate the Group and Parent society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
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resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and Parent society’s internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Parent society’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the society (or where relevant, the Group) to cease to
continue as a going concern.

« . Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The
Group auditor is responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
The Group auditor remains solely responsible for the audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identifies during the audit.

This report is made solely to the society’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 13 of
the Industrial and Provident Societies Act, 1893. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the society and the society’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Matters on which we are required to Report by the Industrial and Provident Societies Act,
1893

As required by Section 13(2) of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act, 1893 we examined the
balance sheet showing the receipts and expenditure, funds and effects of the society, and verified
the same with the books, deeds, documents, accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and found
them to be correct, duly vouched and in accordance with law.

Doloste—

Deloitte
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Deloitte and Touche House, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

30 April 2018



Group Income Statement

2017 2016
Pre— Pre—
ional Exc | Total exceptional Exceptional Total
Notes €m €m €m €m €m €m
{note 6) {notaq 6}
Revenue 5 4,091.3 - 4,091.3 3,622.1 3,622.1
Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA) 5 350.4 (22.3) 328.1 352.5 (17.5) , 335.0
Intangible asset amortisation 14 (46.1) (19.4) (65.5) (41.1) - (41.1)
Operating profit 5 304.3 (41.7) 262.6 3114 (17.5) 293.9
Finance income 10 3.0 - 3.0 21 - 2.1
Finance costs 10 (37.6) (14.0) (51.6) (34.4) (34.4)
Share of results of Joint Ventures & Assaciates 15/16 27.8 8.8 36.6 13.2 13.2
Profit before taxation 297.5 (46.9) 250.6 292.3 (17.5) 274.8
Income taxes 11 (46.9) 45.0 (1.9) (48.7) 2.7 (46.0)
Profit for the year 250.6 (1.9) 248.7 243.6 (14.8) 228.8
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Society - = 94.3 B 93.5
Non—controlling interests 23 = - 154.4 = 135.3
248.7 228.8
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Group statement of comprehensive income
i !

2017 2016

Noles €m €m
Profit for the year 248.7 228.8
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to the Group income statement:
Remeasurements — defined benefit plans 8 14.6 (40.6)
Deferred tax (charge)/credit on remeasurements — defined benefit plans 25 (1.2) 2.9
Share of remeasurements — defined benefit plans — Joint Ventures & Associates — net of deferred tax 3.2 (3.4)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the Group income statement:
Currency translation differences (148.7) 27.0
Net investment hedge 22 113 (3.0)
Revaluation of available for sale financial assets 22 2.2 (1.5)
Net fair value movements on cashflow hedges 22 4.9 0.6
Net fair value movements on cashflow hedges — Joint Ventures & Associates 22 0.8 3.5
Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale financial assets 22 {0.7) 0.4
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges 22 (0.6) (0.2)
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges - Joint Ventures & Associates 22 {0.1) (1.4)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax (114.3) (15.7)
Total comprehensive income for the year 134.4 213.1
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Society 56.5 84.3
Non—controlling interests 23 77.9 128.8
Total comprehensive income for the year 134.4 213.1




Group balance sheet

2017 2016
Notes €m €m
ASSETS
Non—current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 984.0 1,005.9
Intangible assets i4 984.3 976.0
Interests in Associates 15 2.6 2.7
Interests in Joint Ventures 16 94.1 715
Available for sale financial assets 17 17.4 149
Trade and other receivables 18 5.0 33
Deferred tax assets 25 1.6 1.8
Retirement benefit assets 8 1.7 2.6
Derivative financial instruments 29 0.4 0.1
2,091.1 2,078.8
Current assets
Inventories 19 560.9 514.5
Trade and other receivables 18 513.7 418.9
Current tax asset 11.3 9.2
Derivative financial instruments 29 6.0 15
Cash and cash equivalents 20 244.1 324.8
1,336.0 1,268.9
Total assets 3,427.1 3,347.7
EQUITY
Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Parent
Share capital and share premium 21 43.8 45,5
Other reserves 22 150.9 167.0
Retained earnings 480.2 371.3
674.9 583.8
Non—controlling interests 23 931.5 784.9
Total equity 1,606.4 1,368.7
LIABILITIES
Non—current liabilities
Financial liabilities 24 771.7 880.5
Derivative financial instruments 29 5.7 6.6
Deferred tax liabilities 25 134.1 165.3
Retirement benefit obligations 8 136.4 161.0
Provisions 26 32.7 38.0
Capital grants 27 22.9 23.6
Other payables 28 10.1 11.6
1,113.6 1,286.6
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 575.9 558.0
Current tax liabilities 51.9 54.1
Financial liabilities 24 51.9 46.6
Derivative financial instruments 29 0.6 33
Provisions 26 25.1 28.8
Capital grants 27 1.7 1.6
707.1 692.4
Total liabilities 1,820.7 1,979.0
Total equityfind liabilities ;s A . 3,427.1 3,347.7
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Group statement of changes in equity

Share capital and Other Retained Non-controlling
share premium reserves earnings Total interests Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m
{note 21} {note 22) {note 23}

Balance at 31 December 2016 45.5 167.0 371.3 583.8 784.9 1,368.7
Profit for the year - - 94.3 94.3 154.4 248.7
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Remeasurements — defined benefit plans - - 14.7 14.7 (0.1) 14.6
Deferred tax on remeasurements — defined benefit plans - - (1.2) (1.2) - (1.2)
Share of remeasurements — defined benefit plans — Joint Ventures
& Associates - - 3.2 3.2 - 3.2
Revaluation of available for sale assets - 2.2 # 2.2 - 2.2
Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale financial assets - (0.7} - (0.7) - (0.7)
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges - (0.6) - (0.6) - (0.6)
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges — Joint Ventures & Associates * (0.1) - (0.1) - (0.1)
Fair value movements on cashflow hedges - 5.1 - 5.1 - 5.1
Fair value movements on cashflow hedges — Joint Ventures &
Associates - 0.6 - 0.6 . 0.6
Currency translation differences - (149.8) 1.1 (148.7) - (148.7)
Net investment hedge - 11.3 - 11.3 = 11.3
Allocation of the share of other comprehensive income to non—
controlling interests - 89.5 (13.1) 76.4 (76.4) -
Total comprehensive income for the year - (42.5) 99.0 56.5 77.9 134.4
Transactions with equity holders of the Parent
Contributions and distributions
Dividends - - - - (27.0) (27.0)
Sale of shares held by a subsidiary - - 2.4 24 - 2.4
Ordinary share interest paid to Society shareholders - = (3.9) (3.9) - (3.9)
Distribution paid to Society shareholders - = {5.0) (5.0) - (5.0)
Dividend payable to Society shareholders - - {10.0) (10.0) - (10.0)
Shares cancelled (1.7) 1.7 - - = =
Cost of share based payments* - 7.8 - 7.8 - 7.8
Transfer on exercise, vesting or expiry of share based payments* 2.4 (2.4) - ” -
Deferred tax on share based payments* - - 0.1 0.1 - 0.1
Purchase of Glanbia pic own shares* (16.2) - (16.2) - (16.2)
Allocation of the share of contributions and distributions to non—
controlling interests* - 4.0 (0.1) 3.9 (3.9) -
Total contributions and distributions (1.7) (0.3) (18.9) (20.9) (30.9) (51.8)
Equity adjustment arising on sale of Glanbia plc shares - - 118.6 118.6 36.9 155.5
Equity adjustment arising on spin out of Glanbia plc shares - . (25.8) (25.8) 25.8 -
Non—controlling interest arising on disposal of Dairy Ireland - 26.7 (64.0) (37.3) 37.3 -
Non—controlling interests arising on gain in control - - - - (0.4) (0.4)
Balance at 30 December 2017 43.8 150.9 480.2 674.9 931.5 1,606.4

* Contributions and distributions included in the allocation of the share to non-controlling interests.
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Group statement of changes in equity —

i

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent

Share capital and Other Retained Non—controlling
share premium reserves earnings Total interests Total
€m €m €m €m em €m
(note 21) {note 22) (note 23)
Balance at 2 January 2016 46.2 157.9 362.4 566.5 682.7 1,249.2
Profit for the year 93.5 93.5 135.3 228.8
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Remeasurements — defined benefit plans (40.6) (40.6) (40.6)
Deferred tax on remeasurements — defined benefit plans 2.9 2.9 2.9
Share of remeasurements — defined benefit plans — Joint Ventures
& Associates . (4.1) (4.1) (4.1)
Deferred tax on remeasurements — defined benefit plans — Joint
Ventures & Associates 0.7 0.7 0.7
Revaluation of available for sale financial assets (1.5) - (1.5) (1.5)
Fair value movements on cashflow hedges 0.6 - 0.6 0.6
Fair value movements on cashflow hedges — Joint Ventures &
Associates 35 - 3.5 3.5
Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale financial assets 0.4 - 0.4 0.4
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges (0.2) - (0.2) (0.2)
Deferred tax on cashflow hedges — Joint Ventures & Associates (1.4) - (1.4) (1.4)
Currency translation differences 27.0 - 27.0 27.0
Net investment hedge (3.0) - (3.0) - (3.0
Allocation of the share of other comprehensive income to non—
controlling interests (16.4) 22.9 6.5 (6.5) -
Total comprehensive income for the year 9.0 75.3 84.3 128.8 213.1
Transactions with equity holders of the Parent
Contributions and distributions
Dividends - = (24.3) (24.3)
Ordinary share interest paid to Society shareholders - (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)
Distribution paid to Society shareholders (61.9) (61.9) (61.9)
Shares cancelled (1.9) - - (1.9) (1.9)
Shares issued and premium on shares issued 1.2 - - 1.2 = 1.2
Cost of share based payments* 7.7 - 7.7 7.7
Transfer on exercise, vesting or expiry of share based payments* 3.0 (3.0)
Deferred tax on share based payments* 0.2 0.2 - 0.2
Purchase of Glanbia plc own shares* - (10.4) - (10.4) - (10.4)
Allocation of the share of contributions and distributions to non—
controlling interests* (0.2) 1.8 1.6 (1.6)
Total contributions and distributions (0.7) 0.1 (66.9) (67.5) (25.9) (93.4)
Changes in ownership interests
Non—controlling interests arising on gain in control 0.5 0.5 {0.7) (0.2)
Balance at 31 December 2016 45.5 167.0 371.3 583.8 784.9 1,368.7

* Contributions and distributions included in the allocation of the share to non-controlling interests.



Group statement of cashflows

inanciaina

2017 2016

Notes €m €m
Cashflows from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities 32 243.6 454.1
Interest received 2.7 2.1
Interest paid (51.3) (30.9)
Tax paid (33.6) (29.0)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 161.4 396.3
Cashflows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries — purchase consideration 34 (162.2) (15.7)
Acquisition of subsidiaries — liabilities settled at completion 34 (7.6)
Acquisition of subsidiaries — cash and cash equivalents acquired 34 1.6
Payment of deferred consideration on acquisition of subsidiaries {0.1)
Capital grants received 27 1.1 1.7
Sale of Shares held by a Subsidiary 2.4
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (99.0) (114.5)
Purchase of intangible assets (36.9) (24.8)
Interest paid in relation to property, plant and equipment (1.0) (3.3)
Dividends received from Joint Ventures & Associates 16 15.8 13.8
Investment in Glanbia MilkFlex Fund 31 (1.5) (1.5)
Net redemption and additions in available for sale financial assets (0.1) (0.4)
Proceeds from property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.7
Net cash outflow from investing activities (287.2) (144.0)
Cashflows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 13 2.1
Buyback and cancellation of ordinary shares (1.9)
Purchase of Glanbia plc shares — equity settled share based payments 22 (16.2) (10.4)
Purchase of Glanbia plc shares — cash settled share based payments (0.8) (0.8)
Proceeds from sale of Glanbia plc shares held by Society
Decrease in financial liabilities (47.7) (48.2)
Finance lease payments (1.3) (1.1)
Distribution paid to Society’s shareholders - rebates 12 (5.0) (60.0)
Ordinary share interest paid to Society’s shareholders 12 (3.9) (4.2)
Dividends paid to non—controlling interests 23 (27.4) (24.3)
Glanbia Advance Payments Scheme 18 5.3 (5.8)
Revolving share plan — refunds paid 26 (9.8) {(0.3)
Sale of Glanbia plc shares 23 155.5 )
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 50.0 (154.9)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (75.8) 97.4
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 286.9 186.9
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (12.5) 2.6
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 198.6 286.9
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Group statement of cashflows
i I

Reconciliation of net cashflow to movement in net debt Notes zg'lr: zg'lni
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (75.8) 97.4
Cash movements from debt financing 48.9 49.5
New finance leases 13 = {1.9)
(26.9) 145.0
Exchange translation adjustment on net debt 50.4 {20.9)
Movement in net debt in the year, 23.5 124.1
Net debt at the beginning of the year (608.6) (732.7)
Net debt at the end of the year 24 (585.1) (608.6)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

7

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Glanbia Co-operative Society Limited (the ‘Society’) and its subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’) is a leading global nutrition group with its main operations in
Europe, US, Middle East, Asia Pacific and Latin America.

The Group has two divisions, Glanbia plc and Glanbia Ireland DAC.

Glanbia plc

Glanbia plc is a leading global nutrition group. It has two main divisions, Glanbia Performance Nutrition and Glanbia Nutritionals and holds investments in
three joint ventures, Southwest Cheese Company LLC (US), Glanbia Cheese Limited (UK) and Glanbia Ireland DAC (Ireland). Glanbia Performance Nutrition
earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of performance nutrition products. Glanbia Nutritionals earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of
cheese, dairy and non-dairy nutritional ingredients.

Glanbia Ireland DAC

Glanbia Ireland DAC is the largest dairy processor in Ireland. Its products, the large majority of which are exported, include milk powders, butter, cheese,
whey protein and casein. Its customers include many of the large global food and infant formula manufacturers, as well as more regionally focused food
companies across Europe, Middle East, Africa and Asia. Glanbia Ireland DAC is a Joint Venture partner of Glanbia pic.

The Society is domiciled in Ireland, the number which it is registered is 4928R. The address of its registered office is Glanbia House, Kilkenny, Ireland.

These consolidated Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2018.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations adopted by the Group during the year
ended 30 December 2017 are dealt with in section (aa) below. The adoption of these standards and interpretations had no significant impact on the results
or financial position of the Group during the year.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, by the Society, its subsidiaries and Joint Ventures & Associates unless otherwise stated.

{a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with EU adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), IFRIC
interpretations and the provisions of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2014.

The consolidated Financial Statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union (EU) which comprise standards
and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB). The consolidated Financial Statements comply with Article 4 of the EU
IAS Regulation. IFRS adopted by the EU differs in certain respects from IFRS issued by the IASB. References to IFRS hereafter refer to IFRS adopted by the EU.

The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by use of fair values for available for sale
financial assets, derivative financial instruments, share—based payments and retirement benefit obligations. The carrying values of recognised assets and
liabilities that are hedged are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

The preparation of the consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from these estimates. See note 3.

Amounts are stated in euro millions (€'m) unless otherwise stated. These Financial Statements are prepared for the 52—week period ended 30 December
2017. Comparatives are for the 52~week period ended 31 December 2016. The balance sheets for 2017 and 2016 have been drawn up as at 30 December
2017 and 31 December 2016 respectively.

Re-presentation
Certain comparative amounts, primarily in respect of lease incentives, have been reclassified or re—presented, to achieve a more appropriate presentation.

Going concern
After making enquiries the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated Financial
Statements.

{b) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial Statements of the Society and entities controlled by it (its subsidiaries). Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The Society, together with its subsidiaries, holds 31.5% of the issued share capital of Glanbia plc. The Board of Directors of Glanbia pic for the year
ended 30 December 2017 is comprised of 18 members, of which up to 10 are nominated by the Society. In accordance with IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated
Financial Statements’, the Society controls Glanbia plc and consequently it is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Society.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter—company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses, unless they provide an indicator of impairment, between Group companies are
eliminated.

Joint Ventures

The Group applies IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be Joint Ventures. investments in Joint Ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not the ability to
control or jointly control those policies. Investments in Associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Equity method of accounting — Joint Ventures & Associates
Under the equity method of accounting, interests in Joint Ventures & Associates are initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of Joint Ventures & Associates post acquisition profits or losses after tax are recognised in the ‘Share of results of Joint Ventures &
Associates’ in the Group income statement.

The Group’s share of Joint Ventures & Associates post acquisition movement in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income.

The cumulative post—acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment less any impairment in value. Where
indicators of impairment arise, the carrying amount of the Joint Venture or Associate is tested for impairment by comparing its
recoverable amount against its carrying value.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with Joint Ventures & Associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised
losses are similarly eliminated to the extent that they do not provide evidence of impairment.

When the Group’s share of losses in a Joint Venture or Associate equals or exceeds its interest in the Joint Venture or Associate the Group does not
recognise further losses unless the Group has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the Joint Venture or Associate.

When the Group ceases to have joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re—measured to its fair value at the date
when joint control or significant influence is lost with the change in carrying amount recognised in the income statement. The Group also reclassifies
any movements previously recognised in other comprehensive income to the income statement.

Business combinations
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations.

The acquisition date is deemed to be the date the Group gained control of the entity.
The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration given.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ in the
income statement.

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date except for deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements which are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ and IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ respectively.

The fair value of the assets and liabilities are based on valuations using assumptions deemed by management to be appropriate. Professional valuers
are engaged when it is deemed appropriate to do so.

Upon acquisition, the Group assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Acquisition—related costs are expensed as incurred in the income statement.

On an acquisition—-by—acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non—controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non—controlling
interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non—controlling interest
in the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired is still in progress. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period of one year from the date control is achieved when additional information is obtained about
facts and circumstances which would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Discontinued operations and non—current assets held for sale
Discontinued operations and non—current assets held for sale are defined as follows: a component of an entity that either has been disposed of,
abandoned or is classified as held for sale and:
J represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation; or
, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation; or
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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(vii)

(c)
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ancial
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Statements

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal, abandonment or when the operations meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale.
Non—current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying value and the fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
continued use. This condition is regarded as satisfied only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate
sale in its present condition.

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year of the date of
classification. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, once classified as held for sale, are not depreciated or amortised.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re—-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an Associate, Joint Venture or financial asset.

In addition, any movements previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Non—controlling interests

Non-—controlling interests represent the portion of the equity of a subsidiary not attributable either directly or indirectly to the Society and are
presented separately in the income statement and within equity in the balance sheet, distinguished from shareholders’ equity attributable to owners
of the Society.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the Financial Statements of each of the Group’s subsidiaries, Joint Ventures & Associates are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).

The consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euro, which is the Society’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cashflow hedges or net investment hedges.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Currency translation differences on monetary assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement, except when deferred in equity in the currency
translation reserve as (i) qualifying cashflow hedges or (i) exchange gains or losses on long—term intra—group loans and on net investment hedges.

Net investment hedges are foreign currency borrowings used to finance or provide a hedge against Group equity investments in non—euro
denominated operations to the extent that they are neither planned nor expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future or are expected to provide an
effective hedge of the net investment. When long—term intra—group loans are repaid the related cumulative currency translation recognised in the
currency reserve is not reclassified to the income statement unless the entity is disposed of.

Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures & Associates

The income statement and balance sheet of subsidiaries, Joint Ventures & Associates that have a functional currency different from the presentation

currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

{ assets and liabilities at each reporting date are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date of the balance sheet;

g income and expenses in the income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates for the year.
Average exchange rates are only permissible if they approximate actual. The average exchange rates are a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates on transaction dates; and

J all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Resulting exchange differences are taken to a separate currency reserve within equity. When a foreign entity is disposed outside the Group, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

The principal exchange rates used for the translation of results and batance sheets into euro are as follows:

Average Year end
Euro 1= 2017 2016 2017 2016
US dollar 1.1295 1.1068 1.1993 1.0541
Pound sterling 0.8764 0.8194 0.8872 0.8562
Australian dollar 1.4734 1.4884 1.5346 1.4596

Business combinations
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are expressed as functional currency assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and are recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and subsequently retranslated at the applicable closing rates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(d)
(®)

(ii)

(iii)

(e)
(i)

(ii)

Property, plant and equipment
Cost
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs, for example the costs of major renovation, are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is de—recognised when replaced.

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in the income statement.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost (less residual value) of each asset over its estimated useful life at the
following rates:

%

Land Nil
Buildings 2.5-5
Plant and equipment 4-33
Motor vehicles 20-25

Land is not depreciated.
Residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the
relevant lease.

Impairment

In accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’, the carrying amounts of items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Following the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charge applicable to the

asset is adjusted prospectively in order to systematically allocate the revised carrying amount, net of any residual value over the remaining useful life.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary, Joint Venture or Associate at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included within intangible assets.

Goodwill associated with the acquisition of Joint Ventures & Associates is included within the interest in Joint Ventures & Associates under the equity
method of accounting.

Following initial recognition goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if applicable. Goodwill impairments are not reversed.

Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis and at any time during the year if an indicator of impairment is
considered to exist; the annual goodwill impairment tests are undertaken at a consistent time in each annual period.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash generating units or group of
cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest leve! at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

In accordance with IFRS 1 ‘First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’, goodwill written off to reserves prior to date of transition
to IFRS remains written off. In respect of goodwill capitalised and amortised at transition date, its carrying value at date of transition to IFRS remains
unchanged.

Research and development costs
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is
probable that the project will be a success, considering, its commercial and technological feasibility and costs can be measured reliably.

Development costs are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives. During the year the estimated useful life was
changed from six to three years.
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(ii) Brands, customer relationships and other intangibles
Brands, customer relationships and other intangibles acquired as part of a business combination are stated at their fair value at the date control is
achieved.

Indefinite life brands are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if applicable. Indefinite life brands are not amortised on an annual basis
but are tested annually for impairment. Indefinite life intangible assets are those for which there is no foreseeable limit to their expected useful life.
The classification of the brands as indefinite is assessed annually.

Definite life brands, customer relationships and other intangibles are amortised using the straight~line method over their useful life as follows:

Yrs
Brands 10-40
Customer relationships 5-15
Other intangibles 2-15

The useful life used to amortise definite life brands, customer relationships and other intangibles relates to the future performance of the assets
acquired and management’s judgement of the period over which the economic benefit will be derived from the assets.

The carrying values of definite life brands, customer relationships and other intangibles are reviewed for indicators of impairment at each reporting
date and are subject to impairment testing when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

(iv) Computer software
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Costs incurred on the acquisition of computer software are capitalised, as are costs directly associated with developing computer software
programmes for internal use, if they meet the recognition criteria of IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’.

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which is normally
between four and 10 years.

(v} Impairment of intangible assets
Allintangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cashflows {cash generating
units (CGU)).

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement for the amount by which the carrying value of the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value in use is determined as the discounted future
cashflows of the CGU.

() Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets are non—derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.

They are classified as non—current assets unless management intends to dispose of the avaifable for sale financial asset within 12 months of the reporting
date.

They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently adjusted to fair value at each reporting date.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the available for sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When such available for sale assets are disposed or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement as gains or
losses from available for sale financial assets.

The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on current bid prices (level 1 within the fair value hierarchy). If the market for a financial asset is not
active the Group establishes fair value using valuation techniques. See note 29 for further details.

Where the range of reasonable fair values is significant and the probability of various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed, the Group measures the
investment at cost.

Dividends on available for sale financial assets are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such
evidence exists, the cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value. Impairment losses recognised in
the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.

{g) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
Cost includes all expenditure incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the products to their present location and condition.

Cost is determined by the first—in, first—out (FIFO) method or by weighted average cost. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal capacity).

Costs of inventories include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cashflow hedges which relate to purchases of raw materials.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Provision is made, where necessary, for aged, slow moving, obsolete and defective inventories.

19



Notes to the Financial Statements

ai

(h) Trade and loan receivables
Trade and loan receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less
provision for impairment. These are classified as non—current assets except for those maturing within 12 months of the reporting date.

Impairment
An allowance for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivables.

Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulties of the trade/loan receivable, probability that the trade/loan receivable will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments.

If collectability appears unlikely compared with the original terms of the receivable, the Group will determine the appropriate provision based on the
available evidence at that time.

The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the estimated future cashflows. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. When a receivable is uncollectable it is
written off against the allowance account for receivables.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the income statement. Where risks associated with receivables are transferred out
of the Group under debt purchase agreements such receivables are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent of the Group’s continued involvement and
retained risk.

(i) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost which approximates to fair value given the
short dated nature of these liabilities.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid.

The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30-60 days of recognition depending on the terms negotiated with suppliers. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities untess payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.

() Provisions, contingent assets, contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group has a constructive or legal obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured using management’s best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre—tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in provision due to passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

Provisions arising on business combinations are only recognised to the extent that they have qualified for recognition in the Financial Statements of the
acquiree prior to acquisition.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed where the existence of the obligation will only be confirmed by future events or where it is not
probabie that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with reasonable
reliability. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

For the purposes of the Group statement of cashflows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and cash equivalents as defined above net of bank
overdrafts.

{) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Financial liabilities are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the financial liabilities using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity or
the counterpart.
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(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Pension obligations
The Group companies operate various pension plans. The plans are funded through payments to trustee—administered funds. The Group has both
defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution pension

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due.

Defined benefit pension obligation
Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such
as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
reporting date less the fair value of the plan assets.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high—quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension
obligation.

The fair value of plan assets is based on market price information and in the case of quoted securities in active markets it is the published bid price.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the period in which they
occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the balance sheet.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to the income statement in subsequent periods.

A curtailment arises when the Group significantly reduces the number of employees or employee entitiements covered by a plan. A past service cost
may be either positive (when benefits are introduced or changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation increases) or negative
(when benefits are withdrawn or changed so that the present value of the defined benefit obligation decreases).

A settlement occurs when an entity enters into a transaction that eliminates all further legal or constructive obligation for part or all of the benefits
provided under a defined benefit plan (other than a payment of benefits to, or on behalf of, employees in accordance with the terms of the plan and
included in the actuarial assumptions).

The gain or loss on a settlement is the difference between:
(a) the present value of the defined benefit obligation being settled, as determined on the date of settlement; and
(b) the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made directly by the entity in connection with the settlement.

The deferred tax impact of pension plan obligations is disclosed separately within deferred tax assets.

Share based payments — Glanbia plc
The Group operates a number of equity settled share—based compensation plans which include share option and share award schemes which are open
to Executive Directors and certain senior managers.

The charge to the income statement in respect of share—based payments is based on the fair value of the equity instruments granted and is spread
over the performance period.

Options under the 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan
The fair value of the instruments awarded were calculated using the binomial model.

The proceeds received are credited to share capital (nominai value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

The market vesting condition is Total Shareholder Return (TSR) and the awards contain both market and non—market vesting conditions.

Awards under the 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan

The fair value of the awards is calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation technique. The awards contain both market and non-market vesting
conditions. The market vesting condition is Total Shareholder Return (TSR) and, accordingly, the fair value assigned to the related equity instruments is
adjusted so as to reflect the anticipated likelihood at the grant date of achieving the market—-based vesting condition. There are no revisions to the fair
value at subsegquent reporting dates for changes in TSR estimates.

Non—market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of awards that are expected to vest. At each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of awards that are expected to vest based on the non—market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The non—market based charge to the income statement is reversed where awards do not vest because non—-market performance conditions have not
been met or where, subject to the rules of the scheme, an employee in receipt of share awards leaves service before the end of the vesting period.
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Awards under the Annual Incentive Deferred into Shares Scheme

The fair value of shares awarded is determined in line with the Group’s Annual Incentive Scheme rules and equates with the cash value of the portion
of the annual incentive that will be settled by way of shares. The expense is recognised immediately in the income statement with a corresponding
entry to equity.

(iti) Share based payments — Glanbia Ireland DAC
Glanbia Ireland DAC operates a share-based payment plan which may be offered to Key Management personnel of that entity. The scheme is treated as
a cash settled scheme. Until the liability is settled the entity remeasures the fair value of the liability at the end of each reporting period, and at the
date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in the income statement for the period.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
The activities of the Group expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. The
Group uses foreign currency, interest rate and commaodity derivative financial instruments to hedge these exposures.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at the
reporting date.

The fair value of any foreign currency contracts or any commaodities contract is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward
price and the current forward price, using the market interest rate at the measurement date, for a time period equal to the residual maturity of the contract.

The fair value of any interest rate swap is estimated by discounting future cashflows under the swap, using the market interest rates, at the measurement
date, for time periods equal to the residual maturity of the contracted cashflows.

The convertible bond includes a cash settlement option whereby the Society may deliver either a fixed number of shares to the holder, or an amount of cash
equal to the market value of the fixed number of shares at the date of conversion. This convertible bond option is accounted for as a derivative liability (note
29). The convertible bond is a hybrid instrument containing a host debt contract and a conversion option component (written call option over Glanbia plc
shares). The conversion option element is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The host bond is initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently amortised at cost (note 24).

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the
item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either: (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or
(2) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cashflow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and every six
months, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cashflows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 29. Movements on the cashflow hedging reserve in equity
are shown in note 22. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non—current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

(i) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

(i) Cashflow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cashflow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss {for instance when the
forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The recycled gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable interest rates
on borrowings is recognised in the income statement within ‘finance costs’. The recycled gain or loss relating to the effective portion of foreign
exchange contracts is recognised in the income statement within revenue.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income
statement.

(iii) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement.

(iv) Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are issued to banking institutions by members of the Group on behalf of certain of its subsidiaries. These subsidiaries
engage in ongoing financing arrangements with these banking institutions. Under the terms of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, financial guarantee contracts are required to be recognised at fair value at inception and subsequently measured as a provision under
IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, on the Group balance sheet. Guarantees provided by the Group over the payment of
employer contributions in respect of the UK defined benefit pension plans are treated as insurance contracts. See note 30.
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(o) Income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(i) Current tax
Current tax is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the Group balance sheet date in countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income, taking into account adjustments relating to prior years.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax legisiation is subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities, Management uses in—
house tax experts, professional firms and previous experience when assessing tax risks and the tax uncertainties have been measured using a
probability weighted expected value approach. We recognise interest and penalties related to tax uncertainties within administration expenses in the
income statement and within provisions on the balance sheet.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

(i) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax is provided on a non—
discounted basis, using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences on the reporting date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised to the extent they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill not having full tax basis.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset or liability may change for reasons other than a change in the temporary difference itself. Such changes
might arise as a result of a change in tax rates or laws, a reassessment of the recoverability of a deferred tax asset or a change in the expected manner
of recovery of an asset or the expected manner of a settlement of a liability. The impact of these changes is recognised in the income statement or in
other comprehensive income depending on where the original deferred tax balance was recognised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, Joint Ventures & Associates except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

{p) Government grants
Grants from government authorities are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group
will comply with all attached conditions.

Revenue grants are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in current and non—current liabilities and are credited to the
income statement on a straight—line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Research and development taxation credits are recognised at their fair value in the income statement where there is reasonable assurance that the credit
will be received.

(a) Share capital

(i) Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction
from the proceeds.

(ii) Glanbia plc own shares
Where the Employee Share Trust and/or the Employee Share Scheme Trust (on behalf of Glanbia plc) purchases Glanbia pic’s equity share capital,
under the Glanbia plc 2008 LTIP Scheme and the Annual Incentive Deferred into Shares Scheme, the consideration paid is deducted from total equity
and classified as own shares until they are re-issued. Where such shares are re-issued, they are re-issued on a first in, first out basis and the amount
re—issued is transferred from own shares to retained earnings.

{r} Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received/receivable for the sale of goods to external customers net of value added tax, rebates
and discounts.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the
entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the buyer. This generally arises
on delivery or in accordance with specific terms and conditions agreed with customers.

Rebates and discounts are provided for based on agreements or contracts with customers, agreed promotional arrangements and accumulated experience.
Rebates and discounts are recorded in the same period as the original revenue.
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Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Revenue from the sale of property is recognised when there is an unconditional and irrevocable contract for sale.

If the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, then the revenue recognised is the net amount of commission
made by the Group. Management considers the following factors to determine whether the Group acts as an agent or principal: (a) whether the Group takes
title to or is exposed to inventory risk related to the goods, or has no significant responsibility in respect of the goods sold; (b) although the Group collects
the revenue from the final customer, all credit risk is borne by the supplier of the goods; and (c) the ability of the Group to vary the selling prices set by the
supplier by more than a small percentage.

The timing of recognition of service revenue equals the timing of when the services were rendered.

(s) Ordinary share interest
Ordinary share interest reflects distributions on the ordinary shares, and are recognised as a liability of the Society when approved by the Society’s
members.

(t) Distributions to Society members

Pursuant to rule 98 of the Society, the Board may distribute part of the reserves of the Society to members based on their shareholding or trading with the
Group. Such distributions can include rebates, bonus issues of shares or loan stock, share buy backs and interest free support. These distributions are
recorded in retained earnings as distributions to members when approved by the Society’s members.

(u) Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, net losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement, facility fees and the unwinding of discounts on provisions. The interest expense component of finance lease payments
is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

General and specific finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other finance costs are expensed in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

{v} Finance income
Finance income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues using the effective interest rate method and includes net gains on hedging instruments
that are recognised in the income statement.

(w) Leases

(i) Finance leases
Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. All other leases are operating
leases.

A determination is also made as to whether the substance of an arrangement could equate to a finance lease.

Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease
payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated
over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

The corresponding rental obligation, net of finance charges is included in financial liabilities and split between current and non—current, as appropriate.

(i) Operating leases
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight—line basis
over the period of the lease.

(x) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and involves the payment of termination benefits.

(y) Income statement format

(i) Exceptional items
The Group has adopted an income statement format that seeks to highlight significant items within the Group results for the year. Such items may
include restructuring, impairment of assets, adjustments to contingent consideration, material acquisition integration costs, restructuring costs, profit
or loss on disposal or termination of operations, material acquisition costs, litigation settlements, legislative changes, gains or losses on defined benefit
pension plan restructuring and profit or loss on disposal of investments. Judgement is used by the Group in assessing the particular items which by
virtue of their scale and nature should be disclosed in the income statement and notes as exceptional items.
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(ii)  Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (EBITA)
The Group believes that EBITA is a relevant performance measure and has therefore disclosed this amount in the Group income statement. EBITA is
stated before considering the share of results of Joint Ventures & Associates.

{z}y Segment reporting

In |dent|fy|ng the Group's operating segments, management considered the following factors:
how financial information is reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM)
existence of managers responsible for the components
the nature of the component business activities

’ the nature of products and services

» the nature of the production processes
the type or class of customer
the methods used to distribute the products.

The Group has identified two segments as follows:

Glanbia plc
Glanbia Plc earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of performance nutrition products, sale of cheese, dairy and non—dairy nutritional ingredients.

Glanbia Ireland DAC
Glanbia Ireland DAC earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of cheese and dairy ingredients, and the manufacture and sale of a range of consumer
products and farm inputs.

These segments align with the Group’s internal financial reporting system and the way in which the Chief Operating Decision Maker assesses performance
and allocates the Group's resources. Each segment is reviewed in its totality by the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Board of Glanbia Co-operative
Ireland assesses the trading performance of operating segments based on a measure of earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and exceptional items.

Other segments
Other non-reportable segments include both the results of the Co-operative Society entity and other smaller subsidiaries and consolidation adjustments.
These entities do not meet the segment criteria, individually or on an aggregate basis, as outlined in IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments.

These segments align with the Group's internal reporting system and the way in which the Chief Operating Decision Maker (Glanbia Operating Executive)
assesses performance and allocates the Group's resources.

Finance income, finance costs and income taxes are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by central treasury and taxation functions
which manage the cash and tax position of the Group. Unallocated assets and liabilities primarily include tax, cash and cash equivalents, available for sale
financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives. Inter-segment revenue is determined on an arms—length basis. Where a material dependency or
concentration on an individual customer would warrant disclosure, this is disclosed in the operating segments note under IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’.

{aa) New accounting standards and {FRIC interpretations

The following standards and interpretations, issued by the JASB and IFRIC are effective for the Group for the first time in the year ended 30 December 2017
and have been adopted by the Group:

e Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ on the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses

®  Amendments to IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ under its disclosure initiative

e Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 Cycle — Amendments to IFRS 12

None of the above, have had a significant impact on the results or the financial position of the Group during the year ended 30 December 2017.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been published. The Group will apply the relevant standards from their effective dates. The
standards are mandatory for future accounting periods but are not yet effective for the Group and have not been early adopted by the Group.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (EU effective date: on or after 1 January 2018)

This standard will be effective for and will be adopted by the Group for the 2019 financial year beginning 30 December 2018.

The Group’s evaluation of the effect of adoption of IFRS 9 is on—going and the Group’s initial findings are detailed as follows:

The Group’s review has indicated that, on transition to the new standard, equity securities previously accounted for in accordance with 1AS 39 as available
for sale financial assets will be elected on initial recognition at fair value through other comprehensive income. On adoption of IFRS 9 any gains or losses
arising on de-recognition of such assets will remain in equity and will not be recycled to the income statement. No other impact relating to the changes in
classification have been identified that are likely to have a material effect on the Group’s results.

IFRS 9 introduces a forward-looking expected credit losses model, rather than the current incurred loss model, when assessing impairment of financial
assets in the scope of IFRS 9. The standard provides a simplified approach as a practical expedient. The Group will adopt this approach on transition and it is
not expected that any significant adjustments will be made to results already reported on transition.

No impact to the Group’s results has been identified from the Group’s assessment of the requirements of the hedge accounting section of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (EU effective date: on or after 1 January 2018)
This standard will be effective for and will be adopted by the Group for the 2019 financial year beginning 30 December 2018.

The Group’s evaluation of the effect of adoption of IFRS 15 is on—going and the Group’s initial findings are detailed as follows:
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The Group’s assessment of the existing contracts with customers under the principal versus agent relationship may result in the Group transitioning from an
agent to a principal relationship in the case of certain contracts. This assessment is on~going and any material impact, if there is any, will be quantified in the
2018 half year results. Any changes would result in a gross up of the revenue and costs of sales in lieu of the commission currently recognised for certain
customers, with no expected impact to profit.

With the exception of the matter set out above, the Group has not identified any other material issues arising on the transition to the new standard.

IFRS 16 'Leases’ (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2019)
This standard will be effective for and will be adopted by the Group for the 2020 financial year beginning 6 January 2020.

The Group’s evaluation of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16 is on—going and the Group’s initial findings are detailed as follows:

The Group expects to adopt the modified retrospective approach to transition permitted by the standard in which the cumulative effect of initially applying
the standard is recognised in opening retained earnings at the date of initial application.

The Group expects that the adoption of IFRS 16 will have a material impact on the financial statements, significantly increasing the Group’s recognised assets
and liabilities. The Group has approximately 700 operating leases for a range of assets principally relating to property, equipment and vehicles. The fair
values of these leases are currently being evaluated. As a result of the transition to IFRS 16, the fair value of these leases representing the present value of
the lease payments over the expected lease contract period will be recognised as a Right of Use Asset with a corresponding value recognised as a lease
liability. Information on the Group’s leases currently classified as operating leases is provided in note 31.

Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Classification and Measurement of Share-based payment Transactions’ (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2018 - not
yet endorsed)

These amendments clarify that only market and non—vesting conditions are taken into account in the measurement of the fair value of the liability in a cash—
settled share-based payment transaction. Vesting conditions (other than market conditions) are considered when estimating the number of awards
expected to vest.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014—-2016 Cycle (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2018)
A number of small amendments to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’.

Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Transfers of Investment Property’ (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2018 — not yet endorsed)
This amendment provides guidance on transfers to, or from, investment properties.

Amendments to IAS 28 ‘Long—-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures’ {IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2019 - not yet endorsed)
The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ to long—term interests in an Associate or Joint Venture that form part of the net
investment in the Associate or Joint Venture but to which the equity method is not applied.

Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2019)
The amendments address concerns about how IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ classifies particular pre—payable financial assets. In addition, the IASB has
clarified an aspect of the accounting for financial liabilities following a modification.

Amendments to 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ (1ASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2019 — not yet endorsed)

The amendments clarify the effect of a plan amendment curtailment or settlement on the requirements regarding the asset ceiling. It also clarifies that if a
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occur, that it is mandatory that the current service cost and the net investment for the period after the re—
measurement are determined using the assumptions used for the re-measurement.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 ‘Foreign Currency Translation and Advance Consideration’ (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2018)
IFRIC 22 clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (IASB effective date: on or after 1 January 2019 — not yet endorsed)
A number of small amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’, IFRS 11 ‘Joint arrangements’, IAS12 ‘Income taxes’ and IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’.

IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax treatments’ — (IASB effective date 1 January 2019 — not yet endorsed)
The interpretation sets out how to determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates when there is
uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12 Income taxes.

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (IASB effective date on or after 1 January 2021 — not yet endorsed)

This standard replaces the guidance in IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. It requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides
a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of a consistent,
principle based accounting for insurance contracts.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. Significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are
set out below. With the exception of retirement benefit obligations, which are subject to market conditions, it is not expected that there will be a material
adjustment to the carrying value of the asset and liabilities of the other areas outlined below.

Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
Financial Statements is included in the following notes:

Note 2(r) — commission revenue: whether the Group acts as an agent in the transaction rather than as a principal;
v Note 6 — exceptional items: assessing particular items which by virtue of their scale and nature should be disclosed in the income statement and noted
as exceptional items;
Note 16 —interests in Joint Ventures: whether the Group has joint control over an investee;
Note 24 - financial liabilities: whether an arrangement contains a lease; and
Note 2(w) — lease classification.

Estimates

(a) Impairment review of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2(e). The recoverabie
amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

The intangible assets of Glanbia Ireland, Glanbia Nutritionals and Glanbia Performance Nutrition, including goodwill arising on acquisition is tested for
impairment using projected cash flows over a three year period. In cases where management have strategic plans beyond three years these numbers are
also used in the projections. A terminal value assuming 2% growth into perpetuity is also applied. A reduction in projected EBITDA of 10% or a terminal value
assuming zero growth or an increase in the discount factor used by 1% would not result in an impairment of the assets. Indefinite life intangible assets are
those for which there is no foreseeable limit to their expected useful life. The classification of intangible assets as indefinite is reviewed annually.

Additional information in relation to impairment reviews is disclosed in note 14.

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain and the applicable tax legislation is
open to differing interpretations. The Group takes external professional advice to help minimise this risk. It recognises liabilities for anticipated tax authority
reviews based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due, having regard to all information available on the tax matter. The Group engages with
local tax experts to support the judgements made where there is significant uncertainty about the position taken. In determining any liability for amounts
expected to be paid to tax authorities, the Group has regard to the tax status of the entities involved, the external professional advice received, the status of
negotiations and correspondence with the relevant tax authorities, a probability weighted expected value, past practices of the tax authorities and any
precedents in the relevant jurisdiction. Where the final outcome of these tax matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused
tax credits may be utilised. The Group estimates the most probable amount of future taxable profits using assumptions consistent with those employed in
impairment calculations and taking into consideration applicable tax iegislation in the relevant jurisdiction. These calculations also require the use of
estimates.

On 22 December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law in the United States which reduced the federal corporation tax rate from 35% to 21%.
The impact of the reduction in the US tax rate has been factored into the calculation of the 2017 US tax liabilities, particularly impacting deferred tax (note
25). As all provisions and interpretations of the new legislation have not yet been clarified, certain assumptions have been made in the calculation of income
taxes. It is not expected that there will be a material adjustment, within the next financial year, to the carrying amounts of tax assets and liabilities as at 30
December 2017 as a result of the assumptions made.

The decision to recognise deferred tax assets (or not) also requires judgement as it involves an assessment of future recoverability of those assets.

(¢} Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans both in Ireland and the UK. The rates of contributions payable, the pension cost and the
Group’s total obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated and determined by independent qualified actuaries and updated at least annually.
The Irish plans have plan assets totalling €483.5 million (2016: €465.2 million) and plan liabilities of €595.9 million (2016: €592.6 million) giving a net pension
deficit of €112.4 million (2016: €127.4 million). The UK plans have plan assets totalling €82.3 million (2016: €81.5 million) and plan liabilities of €104.7
million (2016: €112.6 million) giving a net pension deficit of £€22.4 million (2016: €31.1 million).

The size of the obligation and cost of the benefits are sensitive to actuarial assumptions. These include demographic assumptions covering mortality and
longevity, and economic assumptions including price inflation, benefit and salary increases together with the discount rate used. As a result of the UK
referendum on EU membership, and the on-going Brexit negotiations, The Group’s UK defined benefit pension plan assumptions are subject to increased
volatility and risk. The Group disclose the UK defined benefit pension plan details separate from the Irish plans to identify the impact of a change in UK
assumptions on the Group’s defined benefit pension plans. The Group has reviewed the impact of a change in the discount rate used and concluded that
based on the pension deficit at 30 December 2017, an increase/decrease in the discount rate applied of 0.25% would have the impact of
decreasing/increasing the Irish pension plan deficit by approximately €25.9 million to €27.1 million (2016; €26 million to €27 million) and decreasing the UK
pension plan deficit by approximately €4.2 million to €4.5 million (2016: €4.8 million to €5.1 million).
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Additional information in relation to retirement benefit obligations is disclosed in note 8.

(d) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method which requires that the assets and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective
fair values at the date of acquisition. The application of this method requires certain estimates and assumptions particularly concerning the determination of
the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. For intangible assets acquired, the Group bases valuations on
expected future cashflows. This method employs a discounted cashflow analysis using the present value of the estimated after—tax cashflows expected to be
generated from the purchased intangible asset using risk adjusted discount rates, revenue forecasts, estimated customer attrition and royalty savings as
appropriate. The period of expected cashflows is based on the expected useful life of the intangible asset acquired.

(e) Provisions

The amounts recognised as a provision are management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle present obligations at the balance sheet date.
The outcome depends on future events which are by their nature uncertain. In assessing the likely outcome, management bases its assessment on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances. Provisions are disclosed in note 26.

(f) Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each
reporting date. The carrying amounts of financial assets would not be materially different were the discounted rate used in the discounted cash flow analysis
to differ by 10% from the Group’s estimates

(g) Estimating lives for depreciation of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

Long-life assets comprising primarily of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets represent a significant portion of total assets. The annual
depreciation and amortisation charge depends primarily on the estimated lives of each type of asset and, in certain circumstances, estimates of fair values
and residual values. The policy is to regularly review these useful lives and change them as necessary to reflect current thinking on remaining lives in light of
technological change, pattern of consumption, the physical condition and expected economic utilisation of the asset.
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L f r 2UL7
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two segments, Glanbia plc and Glanbia Ireland DAC. These segments align with the Group’s internal financial reporting system and the way in
which the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the Board) assesses performance and allocates the Group’s resources. Each segment is reviewed in its totality by
the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The board of Glanbia Co-operative Ireland assesses the trading performance of operating segments based on a measure
of earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and exceptional items.

Each segment derives its revenue as follows; Glanbia Plc earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of performance nutrition products, sale of cheese,
dairy and non-dairy nutritional ingredients, and Glanbia Ireland DAC earns its revenue from the manufacture and sale of cheese and dairy ingredients, and
the manufacture and sale of a range of consumer products and farm inputs. All other segments and unallocated include both the results of the Co-operative
Society entity and other smaller subsidiaries and consolidation adjustments. These entities did not meet the quantitative thresholds for reportable segments
in 2017 or 2016.

The segment results for continuing operations are as follows:

All other
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total

Glanbla plc ireland unall d Group
2017 €m €m €m €m €m
Total gross segment revenue 2,745.5 1,404.1 4,149.6 4.1 4,153.7
Inter-segment revenue (5.1) (57.3) (62.4) - (62.4)
Revenue 2,740.4 1,346.8 4,087.2 4.1 4,091.3
Total Group earnings before interest, tax, amortisation
and exceptional items (EBITA) 293.9 59.9 353.8 (6.3) 347.5
Shares of results of Equity accounted investees pre—
exceptional 27.8 27.8

All othar
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total

Glanbia ple Ireland segments unallocated Group
2016 €m €m €m €m €m
Total gross segment revenue 2,847.9 833.5 3,681.4 8.2 3,689.6
Inter-segment revenue (8.3) (59.1) (67.4) - (67.4)
Revenue 2,839.6 774.4 3,614.0 8.2 3,622.2
Total Group earnings before interest, tax, amortisation
and exceptional items (EBITA) 305.1 48.9 354.0 (1.5) 352.5
Share of results of Equity accounted investees pre—
exceptional 13.2 13.2

Segment earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and exceptional items are reconciled to reported profit before tax and profit after tax for continuing
operations as follows:

2017 2016

€m €m

Earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and exceptional items 347.5 352.5
Amortisation — pre exceptional (46.1) (41.1)
Exceptional items (44.0) (17.5)
Share of results of Joint Ventures & Associates 27.8 13.2
Finance income 3.0 2.1
Finance costs (37.6) (34.4)
Reported profit before taxation 250.6 274.8
Income taxes (1.9) (46.0)
Reported profit for the year 248.7 228.8
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Other segment information pre—exceptional are as follows:

All other
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total
Glanbia plc Ireland segments unallocated Group
2017 €m €m €m €m €m
Depreciation and impairment of PPE 60.0 24.3 84.3 0.9 85.2
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 63.0 2.6 65.6 » 65.6
Capital grants released to income statement 0.2 1.5 1.7 - 1.7
Capital expenditure — additions 75.6 77.1 152.7 - 152.7
Capital expenditure — business combinations 166.9 - 166.9 = 166.9
All other
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total
Glanbia ple Ireland segments unallocated Group
2016 €m €m €m €m €m
Depreciation and impairment of PPE 50.8 16.0 66.8 0.8 67.6
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 40.8 1.4 42.2 - 42.2
Capital grant released to income statement 04 13 1.7 - 1.7
Capital expenditure — additions 98.8 45.3 144.1 1.7 145.8
Capital expenditure — business combinations 2.8 - 2.8 0.2 3.0
The segment assets and liabilities are as follows:
All other
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total
Glanbia plc Ireland segments unallocated Group
2017 €m €m €m €m €m
Segment assets 2,483.0 1,136.8 3,619.8 (192.7) 3,427.1
Segment liabilities (1,101.3) (752.9) (1,854.2) 11.5 (1,842.7)
All other
Glanbia Total reportable segments and Total
Glanbia plc Ireland segments unallocated Group
2016 €m €m €m €m €m
Segment assets 2,708.7 664.2 3,372.9 (25.2) 3,347.7
Segment liabilities (1,481.6) (421.5) (1,903.1) (75.9) (1,979.0)

Unallocated assets and liabilities comprise primarily taxation, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, available for sale financial assets, derivatives,
retirement benefit obligations and the carrying value of remaining Equity accounted investees.

Geographical information
The following represents a geographical analysis of the segment information in accordance with IFRS 8, which requires disclosure of information about the
country of domicile (Republic of Ireland) and countries with material revenue and non—current assets.

2017 2016

€m €m
us 1,762.9 1,781.8
Ireland 1,160.7 966.8
UK 195.4 160.1
Rest of Europe 243.2 280.8
Other 729.1 432.6
Total 4,091.3 3,622.1

Revenue of approximately €312.5 million (2016: €332.5 million) is derived from a single external customer within the Glanbia plc segment.

The total of non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets located in Ireland is €1,222.7 million (2016: €1,141.4 miflion) and
located in other countries, Mainly the US, is €849.3 million (2016: €920.6 million).
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5. OPERATING PROFIT

2017 2016
Pre— Pre—
exceptlonal Exceptional Total exceptional Exceptional Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m
{note 6) {note 6)
Revenue 4,091.3 - 4,091.3 3,622.1 3,622.1
Cost of goods sold (3,215.5) - (3,215.5) (2,749.2) (1.0) (2,750.2)
Gross profit 875.8 - 875.8 872.9 (1.0) 871.9
Selling and distribution expenses (316.0) - {316.0) (301.8) (301.8)
Administration expenses (209.4) (22.3) (231.7) (218.6) (16.5) (235.1)
Earnings before interest tax and amortisation (EBITA) 350.4 (22.3) 328.1 352.5 (17.5) 335.0
Intangible asset amortisation (46.1) (19.4) (65.5) (41.1) (41.1)
Operating profit 304.3 {41.7) 262.6 311.4 (17.5) 293.9
2017 2016
Pre— Exceptional Total Pre— Exceptional Total
exceptional €m €m exceptional €m £m
Notes €m {note 6} €m (note 6)
Operating profit is stated after {charging)/crediting:
Raw materials and consumables used {2,870.3) - (2,870.3) (2,288.4) (1.0) (2,289.4)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 (74.4) - (74.4) (67.1) (67.1)
Amortisation of capital grants received 27 1.7 - 1.7 1.7 1.7
Employee benefit expense 7 (430.9) (4.4) (435.3) (418.6) (10.1) (428.7)
Auditor’'s remuneration (note 1) (1.5) - (1.5) (2.0) (2.0)*
Research and development costs (14.2) - (14.2) (13.0) (13.0)
Net foreign exchange gain 0.3 - 0.3 0.7 0.7
Intangible asset amortisation 14 (46.1) (19.4) (65.5) (41.1) (41.1)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.7) - {0.7) (0.3) (0.3)
Impairment of intangible assets 14 - ~ - (0.5) (0.6) (1.1)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 13 (10.8) - {10.8) (0.5) (0.5)
Operating lease expense 13 (24.2) - (24.2) (25.1) (25.1)
*Within 2016 €0.6 million relates to the former auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers for tax advisory services.
The following tables disclose the fees paid or payable to Deloitte Ireland and to other Statutory Audit firms in the Deloitte network.
2017 2016
Current auditor €m €m
Statutory auditor
— Statutory audit of Group companies 0.8 0.7
— Other assurance services >
— Tax advisory services =
— Other non—audit services = 0.1
0.8 0.8
2017 2016
Current auditor €m €m
Other statutory auditor network firms
— Statutory audit of Group companies 0.7 0.6
— Other assurance services =
— Tax advisory services =
— Other non—audit services -
0.7 0.6

In addition to the above, Deloitte and its member firms received fees of €0.2 million (2016: €0.1 million) in respect of the audit of the Group’s Joint Ventures

& Associates.
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6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2017 2016

NoteS €m €m
Intangible asset amortisation (a) (19.4)
Costs in relation to the restructuring of Dairy Ireland (b) (16.8)
Rationalisation costs (c) {5.4) (3.0)
Debt restructuring (d) (0.1)
Organisation redesign costs (e) - (11.4)
Acquisition integration costs () - (3.1)
Total exceptional operating loss (41.7) (17.5)
Finance costs (d) (14.0)
Share of results of Joint Ventures — deferred tax credit due to US tax reform (g) 8.8
Total exceptional operating loss before tax (46.9) (17.5)
Deferred tax credit due to US tax reform (g) 38.7
Tax credit on exceptional items 11 6.3 2.7
Total exceptional loss (1.9) (14.8)
The nature of the total exceptional operating loss is as follows:

2017 2016

Notes €m €m
Amortisation of development costs (19.4)
Employee benefit expense 7 (4.4) (10.1)
Professional fees (7.8)
Other operating costs (0.6) (7.4)
Impairment of tangible asset (8.1)
Extraordinary general meeting costs (1.4)
Total exceptional operating loss (41.7) (17.5)

The total cash outflow during the year in respect of exceptional charges was €31.3 million (2016: €19.4million) of which €9.9 million (2016: €9.1 million) was
in respect of prior year exceptional charges.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(8)

Intangible asset amortisation: Following a review of the useful life of capitalised development costs in respect of newly developed products across the
Group, it was decided to reduce the estimate of the useful life from 6 to 3 years to reflect the dynamic environment for new product launches in their
early development stage. The once—off additional amortisation from this change in estimate amounted to €19.4 million.

On 2 July 2017, Glanbia Ireland DAC completed the acquisition of the Dairy Ireland business from Glanbia plc. Costs arising in respect of this transaction
amounted to €13.0 million. These costs include impairment of tangible fixed assets of €8.1 million, professional fees of €3.6 million, Extraordinary
General Meeting costs of €0.6 miilion, employee benefit expense of €0.5 million and other related costs of €0.2 million. Relating to this transaction
Glanbia Co-operative Society Limited sold 8.9 million shares and this resulted in costs of €3.8 million. These costs include professional fees of €3.2
million, SGM related costs of €0.4 million and other related costs of £0.2 million.

Rationalisation costs in the current year relate mainly to redundancies arising from the elimination of certain positions following a Group-wide
organisational review. Costs of €5.4 miltion include employee benefit expense of €3.9 million, professional fees of €1.1 million and other costs of €0.4
million. Rationalisation costs in 2016 primarily relate to redundancy and rationalisation programme in Dairy Ireland.

Following a review of debt facilities to ensure that the structure was appropriate to support the future growth of the Group, the Group repaid $169.0
million of the $325.0 million private placement debt resulting in £€14.0 million of once-off interest costs reflecting make-whole interest due to note
holders arising on early settlement and €0.1 million of professional fees.

Organisation redesign costs relate to the Glanbia Nutritionals programme, announced in 2015, to fundamentally reorganise the business and leverage
future market opportunities. This was largely completed in 2016. In 2016 costs of €11.4 million include consultancy of €2.9 million, employee benefit
expense of €5.0 million, of which redundancy was €1.4 million, travel and expenses of €1.7 million, impairment of development costs and product line
of €1.6 million and other costs of €0.1 million. There were no material organisation redesign related costs in 2017.

Acquisition integration costs comprise costs relating to the integration, restructuring and redesign of route to market capabilities within acquired
businesses in the Glanbia Performance Nutrition segment. This was completed in 2016. 2016 costs of €3.1 million include consultancy of €0.7 million,
employee benefit expense comprising redundancy of €2.1 million and other costs of €0.3 million. There were no material acquisition related costs in
2017

On 22 December 2017 the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law in the United States which reduced the federal corporate tax rate from 35% to
21%. As a result of the reduced federal corporate tax rate the Group recognised a deferred tax credit of €38.7 million within wholly owned subsidiaries
and a deferred tax credit of €8.8 million within share of results from Joint Ventures.
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7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE
The aggregate payroll costs of employees (including Executive Directors) in the Group were:

2017 2016
Notes €m €m
Wages and salaries 348.4 339.5
Social security costs 32.5 313
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 8 11.2 9.9
Pension costs — defined benefit plans 8 12.2 12.1
Other compensation costs:

Cost of share based payments — equity settled 9 7.8 7.7
Cost of share based payments — cash settled 9 0.8 2.2
Company car allowance 1.7 19
Private health insurance 16.3 14.0
430.9 418.6

Exceptional items 6 4.4 10.1
At the end of the year 435.3 428.7

Exceptional items includes redundancy of €3.9 million (2016: €6.5 million) and wages and salaries of €nil (2016: €3.6 million). Capitalised labour costs of
€21.9 million (2016: £€14.1 million) are included within the aggregate payroll costs above. See note 13 and note 14.

The average number of employees, excluding the Group’s Joint Ventures & Associates, in 2017 was 5,292 (2016: 5,491) and is analysed into the following
categories:

Re-presented*

2017 2016
Glanbia Plc 3,975 3,531
Glanbia Ireland DAC 1,308 1,951
Other 9 9
5,292 5,491
*Re-presented in line with note 4 segmental information.
8. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The Group operates defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans.
Defined contribution plans
The Group has a number of defined contribution pension plans in operation.
The following amounts have been recognised in the Group income statement in relation to the defined contribution pension pians:
2017 2016
Notes €m €m
Defined contribution pension plan expense 7 11.2 9.9

Defined benefit pension plans
The Group operates five defined benefit pension plans in the Republic of Ireland and two defined benefit pension plans in the United Kingdom (UK).

The defined benefit pension plans in Ireland and the UK are administered by Boards of Trustees through separate trustee controlled funds. These Boards are
responsible for the management and governance of the plans including compliance with all relevant laws and regulations. Each of the Group’s plans operate
under their respective regulatory frameworks and minimum funding requirements. All of the plans are closed to new entrants and the UK plans comprise
solely pensioners and deferred pensioners.

The defined benefit pension plans provide retirement and death benetits for the Group’s employees. The majority of the defined benefit pension plans are
career average pension plans, which provide benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided
depends on members’ length of service and their average salary over their period of employment.

The contributions paid to the defined benefit pension plans are in accordance with the schedule of contributions agreed between the Group and the
Trustees of the relevant plans as recommended in the actuarial valuation reports or in subsequent actuarial advice. The contributions are partly funded by
the employees, where they are required to contribute a fixed percentage of pensionable salary, and partly by the Group. The latest actuarial valuation
reports for these pians, which are not available for public inspection, are dated between 1 January 2015 and 5 April 2017.
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Principal risks in the defined benefit pension plans
Through its defined benefit pension plans the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

(a) Investment risk

The pension plans hold investments in asset classes such as equities, which have volatile market values. While these assets are expected to provide higher
returns than other asset classes over the long—term, the short—term volatility could cause an increase in the deficit at any particular point in time. When
assets return less than the discount rate, this will lead to an increase in the net defined benefit obligation. The Trustees conduct investment reviews to take

advice on asset allocation, taking into account asset valuations, liability durations, funding measurements and an achievement of an appropriate return on
assets.

(b) Interest rate risk

The pension liabilities are assessed using market yields on high—quality corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As the pension plans hold other assets
such as equities, the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in the same way. A change in the defined benefit obligation as a result of changes in the
discount rate leads to volatility in the Group balance sheet, Group income statement and Group statement of comprehensive income. It also impacts the
funding requirements for the plans.

(c) Inflation risk

A significant proportion of the benefits under the plans are linked to inflation, be it consumer price inflation or retail price inflation, which in most cases are
subject to a cap on annual increases. Although there are caps in force on inflation increases and the plans’ assets are expected to provide a good hedge
against inflation over the long—term, higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities.

(d) Longevity risk
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the life expectancy of plan participants both during and
after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the defined benefit obligation.

Principal assumptions used in the defined benefit pension plans

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2017 2017 2016 2016

ROI UK ROI UK

Discount rate 1.80% 2.35% 1.80% 2.50%
Inflation rate 1.50%-1.60% 2.15%-3.15% 1.40%-1.50% 2.20%-3.20%
Future salary increases* 2.60% 0.00% 2.50% 0.00%
Future pension increases 0.00% 2.25%-2.95% 0.00% 2.25%-2.95%

*The ROI defined benefit pension plans are on a career average structure therefore this assumption does not have a material impact. The UK defined benefit
pension plans comprise solely pensioners and deferred pensioners.

Mortality rates

2017 2017 2016 2016

ROl mortality rates UK mortality rates ROI mortality rates UK mortality rates

Years Years Years Years

Male - reaching 65 years of age in 20 years time 23.0 22.7 23.0 23.1
Female —reaching 65 years of age in 20 years time 25.4 25.0 25.4 25.7
Male — currently aged 65 years old 20.6 21.2 20.6 21.4
Female — currently aged 65 years old 23.2 23.5 23.2 23.8

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and experience in each territory.
Recognition in the Group income statement and in the Group statement of comprehensive income
The following amounts have been recognised in the Group income statement and Group statement of comprehensive income in relation to defined benefit

pension plans:

Recognition in the Group income statement:

2017 2016

Notes €m €m
Current service cost (9.3) (9.3)
Net interest cost (2.9) (2.8)
Total expense pre—settlement 7 {12.2) (12.1)
Total expense recognised in the Group income statement in employee benefit expense {12.2) (12.1)
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Recognition in the Group statement of comprehensive income:

2017 2016
€m €m
Return of plan assets in excess of interest income 111 25.2
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments 9.1 5.6
Actuarial gain/(loss) arising from changes in demographic assumptions 1.3 (1.6)
Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from changes in financial assumptions (6.9) (69.8)
Total (expense)/income recognised in the Group statement of comprehensive income 14.6 (40.6)
Recognition in the Group balance sheet:
2017 2016
€m €m
Present value of funded obligations (700.6) (705.2)
Fair value of plan assets 565.9 546.8
Net defined benefit pension plan liability (134.7) (158.4)
Reconciliation of net defined benefit pension plan liability to the amounts recognised in the Group balance sheet:
2017 2016
€m €m
Non—current assets
Surplus on defined benefit pension plan 1.7 2.6
Non-current liabilities
Deficit on defined benefit pension plan {136.4) (161.0)
Net defined benefit pension plan liability {134.7) (158.4)
The net liability disclosed above relates to funded plans.
The movement in the net retirement benefit liability recognised in the Group balance sheet is as follows:
2017 2016
Notes €m €'m
At the beginning of the year (158.4) (128.8)
Exchange differences 1.0 2.8
Service cost and net interest cost 7 (12.2) (12.1)
Remeasurements — defined benefit plans 14.6 (40.6)
Contributions paid/payable by employer 20.3 20.3
At the end of the year (134.7) (158.4)
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The movement in obligations during the year is as follows:

mitinued

2017 2016

ROI UK Total ROI UK Total

€m €m €m €m €m €m
At the beginning of the year (592.6) (112.6) (705.2) (541.6) (106.1) (647.7)
Exchange differences e 3.9 3.9 15.1 15.1
Current service costs (9.4) - (9.4) (9.3) - (9.3)
Interest costs (10.5) (2.7) (13.2) (12.1) (3.4) (15.5)
Remeasurements:
— Experience gain ) 6.4 2.7 9.1 5.6 5.6
— (Loss)/gain from changes in demographic assumptions - 13 13 (1.6) (1.6)
— (Loss)/gain from changes in financial assumptions (4.7) (2.2) (6.9) (49.1) (20.7) (69.8)
Contributions by plan participants (2.6) - (2.6) (2.5) (2.5)
Payments from plans:
— Benefit payments 17.5 4.9 22.4 16.4 4.1 20.5
At the end of the year (595.9) (104.7) {700.6) (592.6) (112.6) (705.2)
The movement in the fair value of plan assets during the year is as follows:

2017 2016

ROI UK Total ROI UK Total

€m €m €m €m €m €m
At the beginning of the year 465.2 81.5 546.7 433.4 85.5 518.9
Exchange differences - (2.8) (2.8) - (12.4) (12.4)
Interest income 8.4 2.0 10.4 9.8 2.8 12.6
Remeasurements:
— Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest
income/(expense) 8.5 2.6 11.1 19.6 5.6 25.2
Contributions by plan participants 2.6 - 2.6 2.5 - 2.5
Contributions paid/payable by employer 16.3 4.0 20.3 16.3 4.0 20.3
Payments from plans:
— Benefit payments (17.5) (4.9) (22.4) (16.4) (4.0) (20.4)
At the end of the year 483.5 82.4 565.9 465.2 81.5 546.7
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The fair value of plan assets at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2017 2016
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unguoted Total
€m €m €m % €m €m €m %
Equities:
—Consumer 27.7 - 27.7 5 23.2 23.2 4
—Energy 9.7 - 9.7 2 10.1 10.1 2
- Financials 30.8 - 30.8 5 30.0 30.0 5
- Healthcare 16.6 - 16.6 3 15.3 15.3 3
— Industrials 18.1 . 18.1 3 15.6 15.6 E]
— Information technology 223 - 223 4 18.4 18.4 3
- Materials 7.6 - 7.6 1 6.9 6.9 1
- Telecommunication services 4.2 - 4.2 1 5.0 5.0 1
- Utilities 4.3 - 4.3 1 4.7 4.7 1
— Other 11.5 # 115 2 11.4 1.0 12.4 2
Corporate bonds:
- Investment grade 59.7 - 59.7 11 44.1 10.6 54.7 10
— Non—-investment grade 9.1 - 9.1 2 5.6 13 6.9 1
Government bonds and gilts 141.0 - 141.0 25 116.9 18.2 135.1 25
Property:
- UK 0.8 0.3 11 - - 5.0 5.0 1
—Ireland 0.6 7.6 8.2 1 1.8 1.8 3.6 1
- Europe - 1.9 1.9 - = 9.9 9.9 2
Cash 6.6 41 10.7 2 1.2 9.7 10.9 2
Investment funds - 162.3 162.3 29 - 157.7 157.7 29
Other 0.5 18.6 19.1 3 0.4 20.9 213 4
371.1 194.8 565.9 100 310.6 236.1 546.7 100

The plan assets at the end of the reporting period do not include any equities held in the Group, nor does the Group use or occupy any of the plan assets.

Sensitivity analysis for principal assumptions used to measure plan liabilities
There are inherent uncertainties surrounding the financial assumptions adopted in calculating the actuarial valuation of the Group’s defined benefit pension
plans. The following table analyses, for the Group’s pension plans, the estimated impact on the plan liabilities resulting from changes to key actuarial
assumptions, with all other assumptions remaining constant.

The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in the assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. The impact on the plan liabilities has been calculated using the

projected unit credit method, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation recognised on the Group balance sheet.

There have been no changes from the previous year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis.

2017
Assumption

Discount rate

Price inflation

Longevity

Future salary increases *

Future pension increases **

Change in assumption
0.25% movement
0.25% movement

1 year movement

ROI plans

Increase
€000

(15.2)
5.2
10.1

Decrease
€000

15.9
(5.2)
(9.8)

UK plans

Increase
€000

(4.2)
3.3
45

Decrease
€000

4.5
(3.3)
(4.5)

*The majority of the defined benefit plans are career average plans. As a result, future salary increases will not have a material impact on the plan liabilities.
**There are no future pension increases agreed in the material defined benefit pension plans.
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ROI plans UK plans
2018 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Assumption Change in assumption £€m €m €m €m
Discount rate 0.25% movement (25.8) 27.1 (4.8) 5.1
Price inflation 0.25% movement 8.9 (8.8) 3.5 (3.4)
Longevity 1 year movement 17.2 (16.8) 4.3 (4.3)

Future salary increases *

Future pension increases **

*The majority of the defined benefit plans are career average plans. As a result, future salary increases will not have a material impact on the plan liabilities.
**There are no future pension increases agreed in the material defined benefit pension plans.

ROI plans UK plans
€m €m
Expected contributions to the defined benefit pension plans for the coming year 15.1 3.9
ROI plans UK plans
Years Years
Weighted average duration of the defined benefit plans 18 16

9. SHARE BASED PAYMENT EXPENSE

Glanbia Ireland DAC operates a share based payment arrangement (‘The GIID Scheme’) whereby the share awards granted are in the equity instruments of
Glanbia plc. This arrangement is therefore measured as a cash settled share based payment transaction in line with IFRS 2 ‘Share based payment’. See note 7
for total expense of €0.8 million (2016: €2.2 million) recognised during the year ended 30 December 2017. The weighted average fair value at 30 December
2017 was €14.90 per share (2016: €16.00).

Awards outstanding under the GIID Scheme as at 30 December 2017 amounted to 244,652 (2016: 135,260). These are scheduled to vest in periods up to July
2019, to the extent that there is sustained improvement in the underlying financial performance over a three year period and that the service condition is
fulfilled. The maximum annual award level is 100% of Base Salary. Vesting is determined on a straight line basis between threshold and maximum.

The extent of vesting for awards granted is determined by growth in EPS, Total Shareholder Return performance (TSR) and Return on Capital Employed
(ROCE) of Glanbia plc, with each of EPS, TSR and ROCE representing one third of the maximum vesting level. A service condition also applies.

For GIID Executive Directors, the award is determined by reference to the following performance metrics:
Between 15%-20% based on Glanbia plc adjusted EPS on a reported basis;
) Between 7.5%-12% based on Glanbia plc ROCE;
Between 7.5%-8% based on relative TSR against the STOXX Europe 600 Food and Beverage index;
15% based on business segment Operating Cashflow;
> 15% based on KPMG Milk Price Audit Rank; and
> Between 30%-40% based on business segment ROCE.

Glanbia plc operates the following equity settled share based payment arrangements as defined in IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. The arrangements include
both share option and share award schemes open to both Executive Directors and certain senior management.

> 2002 Long term incentive plan (the 2002 LTIP)
2008 Long term incentive plan (the 2008 LTIP)
) The Annual Incentive Deferred Into Shares Scheme (the AIDIS Scheme)

The share based payment reserve reflects charges relating to granting of both share options and awards under the 2002 LTIP, the 2008 LTIP and the AIDIS
Scheme, net of transfers on vesting or expiry of share based payments.

The movement in the share based payment reserve for the year ended 30 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

2017 2016

Notes €m €'m

At the beginning of the year 22 8.5 7.7
Transfer on exercise, vesting or expiry of share based payments 22 (9.9) (5.5)
Cost of share based payments 7/22 7.8 7.7
Allocation to non-controlling interests 22 1.5 (1.4)
At the end of the year 22 7.9 8.5
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The total cost recognised in the Group income statement is analysed as follows:

2017 2016

Notes €m €m

The 2008 LTIP 7.1 5.8
The AIDIS Scheme 0.7 1.9
7 7.8 7.7

2002 Long Term incentive Plan
This plan closed to further grants in 2012, the last share options were granted in 2011.

Under the 2002 LTIP, options could not be exercised before the expiration of three years from the date of grant and could only be exercised if a pre—
determined performance criterion for the Glanbia plc group has been achieved. The performance criterion required an increase in the adjusted Earnings Per
Share (EPS) of the Glanbia plc group of at least the Consumer Price Index plus 5% over a three year period.

When the options are exercised, Glanbia plc issues new shares and the fair value of the awards exercised is reclassified from the share based payment
reserve to retained earnings.

In accordance with the terms of the 2002 LTIP, certain executives to whom options were granted in 2004 were eligible to receive share awards related to the
number of ordinary shares which they held on the second anniversary of the exercise of the option up to a maximum of 1,450 ordinary shares. There are no
share awards outstanding as at the end of the year (2016: Nil).

Movement in the number of options outstanding under 2002 LTIP for the year ended 30 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

2016

2017 Weighted

Weighted average average

exercise exercise
price per 2017 price per 2016
share Number share Number
€ of options € of options
At the beginning of the year 4.15 45,000 3.81 55,000
Exercised during the year (2.29) (5,000) {2.29) (10,000)
At the end of the year 4.38 40,000 4.15 45,000

Expiry dates of share options outstanding and exercisable at 30 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Exercise 2017 2016
price Number Number
Expiry date € of aptions __ of options
2019 2.29 = 5,000
2021 4.38 40,000 40,000
40,000 45,000

Total options of 40,000 (2016: 45,000) ordinary shares were outstanding at 30 December 2017 under the 2002 LTIP at prices of €2.29 and €4.38. The cost of
the 2002 LTIP charged in the Group income statement was €nil (2016: nil). The fair value of the share options was calculated using the Binomial Model.

Options over 40,000 (2016: 45,000) ordinary shares were exercisable at 30 December 2017. The share price at the date of exercise for share options
exercised was €18.47 (2016: €18.39). The weighted average life for share options outstanding is four years.

2008 Long Term Incentive Plan

This is a long-term share incentive plan, which was introduced in 2008 of Glanbia pic following the approval by the Glanbia plc shareholders, under which
share awards are granted to Executive Directors and certain senior managers in the form of a provisional allocation of shares for which no exercise price is
payable.

Awards outstanding under the 2008 LTIP as at 30 December 2017 amounted to 2,203,668 (2016: 2,294,783). These are scheduled to vest in periods up to
February 2020, to the extent that there is sustained improvement in the underlying financial performance over a three year period and that the service
condition is fulfilled as determined by the Remuneration Committee. The maximum annual award level is 250% (for awards granted before 2015 the
maximum was 150% and 2016 250%) of Base Salary. Vesting is determined on a straight line basis between threshold and maximum.

The extent of vesting for awards granted before 2015 is determined by growth in EPS, Total Shareholder Return performance (TSR) and Return on Capital
Employed (ROCE), with each of EPS, TSR and ROCE representing one third of the maximum vesting level. A service condition also applies. There is a
requirement to hold shares received pursuant to the vesting of LTIP awards for a minimum period of one year post-vesting.

The extent of vesting for awards granted from 2015 onwards is determined based on the performance category of each individual and consists of a
combination of the following performance metrics, a service condition and in certain circumstances a personal objective.
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The award is determined by reference to three performance metrics for the Glanbia plc Managing Director and the Glanbia plc Finance Director:
50% based on Glanbia plc adjusted EPS on a reported basis;
30% based on Glanbia plc ROCE; and
20% based on relative TSR against the STOXX Europe 600 Food and Beverage index.

For Glanbia plc business segment Executive Directors, the award is determined by reference to the following performance metrics:
40% based on Glanbia plc adjusted EPS on a reported basis;
15% based on Glanbia plc ROCE;
15% based on relative TSR against the STOXX Europe 600 Food and Beverage index;
20% based on business segment EBITA; and
10% based on business segment ROCE.

From 2015 onwards the required period to hold shares received post vesting of LTIP award has increased to two years for members of the Glanbia plc
Operating Executive.

IFRS 2 requires that a recognised valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of shares awarded and stipulates that this methodology
should be consistent with methodologies used for pricing of financial instruments. The expense of €7.1 million (2016: €5.8 million} charged in the Group
income statement has been arrived at through applying a Monte Carlo simulation technique to model the combination of market and non-market based
performance conditions of the plan.

The assumptions used in the valuation were as follows:

Granted Granted Granted Granted
in 2017 in 2016 in 2015 in 2014
Risk—free interest rate (0.63%) (0.50%) 0.04% 0.10%
Expected voiatility 25.00% 22.30% 22.0% 26.10%
Dividend yield 0.79% 0.66% 0.81% 0.94%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of Glanbia plc’s share price over a period equivalent to the expected life of the
award.

At each reporting date the Group revises its estimates of the number of awards that are expected to vest based on the non—market vesting conditions and
the service condition. A share award may lapse if a participant ceases to be employed within the Group before the date of vest.

When the awards are exercised Glanbia plc re—issues shares from own shares and the fair value of the awards exercised is reclassified from the share based
payment reserve to retained earnings.

Movement in the 2008 LTIP for the year ended 30 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

2017 2016

Number of awards  Number of awards

At the beginning of the year 2,294,783 2,060,605

Granted 874,641 851,305

Vested (644,620) (457,852)

Lapsed (321,136) (159,275)

At the end of the year 2,203,668 2,294,783
Expiry dates of share awards outstanding at 30 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

2017 2016

Number of awards  Number of awards

Expiry date in

2017 - 4,000
2018 - 710,103
2019 673,337 751,865
2020 706,990 828,815
2021 823,341 -
At the end of the year 2,203,668 2,294,783
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The total expense in the Group income statement is analysed as follows:

Fair value — Expense in Expense in Group
Share price at Year of Fair value non-market Total weighted Group income income
date earllest vesting Number - TSR performance average statement statement
of award date of shares p fair value 2017 2016
€ € € €m €'m
Granted in 2014
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan 11.51 2017 841,000 5.75 11.19 9.38 H 2.4
Granted in 2015
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan 17.53 2018 844,490 13.16 17.10 16.55 1.9 2.5
Granted in 2016
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan 18.47 2019 851,305 11.19 18.11 17.15 2.2 0.9
Granted in 2017
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan 18.05 2020 874,641 9.00 17.62 16.57 3.0
Total expense recognised in Group income statement 7.1 5.8

On 4 May 2016, 8 june 2016 and 21 October to 3 November 2016, 260,333, 180,453 and 17,066 respectively, of the share awards granted in 2013 vested.
362,248 of the share awards lapsed and 4,000 share awards have yet to vest. On 23 March 2017, 26 June 2017, 29 June 2017, 2 July 2017, 5 July 2017, 27
October 2017 and 10 November 2017, 10,074, 4,864, 131,348, 464,633, 16,143, 5,031 and 9,526 respectively, of the share awards granted in 2014 vested
and 199,381 lapsed. On 5 july 2017 3,001 of the share awards granted in 2013 were vested.

Annual Incentive Deferred into Shares Scheme

This scheme is an annual performance related incentive scheme for Glanbia plc Executive Directors and other senior management. The fair value of the
Annual Incentive Deferred into Shares Scheme was calculated as €0.7 million in 2017 (2016: £1.9 million) and equates to the cash value of the portion of the
annual incentive that will be settled by way of shares. The number of shares received is determined by the share price on the date of allocation. The
incentive will be invested in shares in Glanbia pic and delivered to the Executive Directors and senior management two years following this investment.

10. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2017 2016
Notes €m €m
Finance income
Interest income 3.0 2.1
Total finance income 3.0 2.1
Finance costs
Bank borrowing costs (11.6) (10.2)
Facility fees including cost amortisation (6.7) (5.8)
Unwinding of discounts on provisions 26 (0.1) (0.3)
Finance lease costs (0.1) (0.1)
Net interest expense (1.2) (0.1)
Finance cost of private debt placement (28.7) (16.0)
Finance cost of bonds (1.4) (0.8)
Revolving share plan appropriation 26 (1.1) (1.1)
Other loans (0.7)
Total finance costs {(51.6) (34.4)
Net finance costs (48.6) (32.3)

Net finance costs exclude borrowing costs of €1.0 million (2016: €3.3 million) attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which have been capitalised, as disclosed in note 13. Interest is capitalised at the Group's average interest rate for the period of 4.0% (2016: 4.2%). Interest
income includes interest on loans to related parties of €0.1 million (2016: €0.1 million). See note 35 (f).
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11. INCOME TAXES

2017 2016
Notes €m €m
Current tax
Irish current tax 17.5 16.4
Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.4) 0.1
Irish current tax for the year 17.1 16.5
Foreign current tax 12.4 37.4
Adjustments in respect of prior years (3.2) 1.2
Foreign current tax for the year 9.2 38.6
Total current tax 26.3 55.1
Deferred tax
Deferred tax — current year (23.8) (7.9)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.7) (1.2)
Total deferred tax 25 {24.5) (9.1)
Tax charge 1.8 46.0
The tax credit on exceptional items and the exceptional deferred tax credit included in the above
amounts are as follows:
Current tax credit on exceptional items (4.2) (2.5)
Deferred tax on credit exceptional items (2.1) (0.2)
Deferred tax credit due to US tax reform (38.7)
Total tax credit on exceptional items for the year (45.0) (2.7)

The net tax credit on exceptional items in 2017 and 2016 has been disclosed separately above as it relates to costs and income which have been presented
as exceptional.

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise applying the corporation tax rate in Ireland, as follows:

2017 2016
€m €m
Profit before tax 250.6 274.8
Income tax calculated at Irish rate of 12.5% (2016: 12.5%) 31.3 34.3
Earnings at higher Irish rates 2.6 0.3
Difference due to overseas tax rates 6.7 131
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods (4.2) 0.2
Tax on post-tax profits of Joint Ventures & Associates included in profit before tax (3.5) (1.6)
Reduction in US Tax rate (38.7)
Other reconciling differences 7.7 (0.3)
Total tax charge 1.9 46.0

Details of deferred tax charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income during the year are outlined in note 25.

Factors that may affect future tax charges and other disclosure requirements

The total tax charge in future periods will be affected by any changes to the applicable tax rates in force in jurisdictions in which the Group operates and
other relevant changes in tax legislation, including amendments impacting on the excess of tax depreciation over accounting depreciation and clarification
on certain application matters in relation to the recently enacted Tax cuts and Job act in the US. The total tax charge of the Group may also be influenced by
the effects of corporate development activity and the resolution of uncertain tax positions where the final outcome of those matters is different than the
amounts recorded using the probability weighted expected value approach.
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12. ORDINARY SHARE INTEREST AND APPROPRIATIONS
2017 2016
Notes €m €m
Ordinary share interest paid to Society shareholders (a) 3.9 4.0
Distribution to Society shareholders — Dividend payable (b) 10.0
Distribution to Society shareholders — rebates (c) 5.0 373
Distribution to Saciety shareholders — bonus issue (d) - 16.8
Distribution to Society shareholders — buy back (e) - 7.5
Distribution to Society shareholders — GAP interest (f) - 0.3
18.9 65.9
(38) Ordinary share interest paid in 2017 was 10 cent per share on 38.6 million shares (2016: 10 cent per share on 40.4 million shares).
(b) During 2017 at a Special General Meeting of the Society, pursuant to rule 98 of the rules of the Society, members of the Society approved a dividend
distribution of €10.0 million (26 cent per share) to be paid out by the end of 31 December 2018. The full amount remains unpaid (2016: €nil)
{c) During 2015, at a Special General Meeting of the Society, members of the Society approved the setup of a patronage rebate fund of €50.6m with the
nature on the timing of payments at the discretion of the Board. As at 30 December 2017 €2.0m remains unpaid (2016: €7.1m). {note 31}
During 2017, pursuant to rule 98 of the rules of the Society, the Board distributed the below rebates to members of the Society from the members’
approved funds:
A fertiliser rebate to members who purchased from the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to seven units of € loan stock for every one
tonne of retail purchases of fertiliser during 2017.
> A feed rebate to members who purchased from the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to ten units of € loan stock for every one tonne of
retail purchases of feed during 2017.
> Agrain rebate to members who supplied grain to the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to 14 units of € loan stock for every one tonne of
grain supplied during 2017.
During 2016, pursuant to rule 98 of the rules of the Society, the Board distributed the below rebates to members of the Society from the members’
approved funds:
+ A fertiliser rebate to members who purchased from the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to seven units of € loan stock for every one
tonne of retail purchases of fertiliser during 2016.
» Afeed rebate to members who purchased from the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to seven units of € loan stock for every one tonne
of retail purchases of feed during 2016.
A grain rebate to members who supplied grain to the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to 10 units of € loan stock for every one tonne of
grain supplied during 2015 and 2016.
> A milk rebate to members who supplied milk to the Society or its subsidiaries on the basis of up to two units of € loan stock for every 100 litres of
milk supplied during 2015 and 2016.
Also during 2016 pursuant to rule 98 of the rules of the Society the Board distributed the below distributions to members of the Society:
{(d) A bonus issue of 0.25 units of € loan stock and 0.17 units of € loan stock for every share held in the Society on 10 May 2016 and 26 October 2016
respectively. Loan stock of €1.3 million remains outstanding as at 30 December 2017 (2016: €1.6m) (note 28).
{e) A share buy back of 1,862,535 shares (see note 21) at €5 per share consisting of a share cancellation at par of €1 and a bonus issue of 4 units of € loan

(f)

stock for every share cancelled. The share buy back was fully paid as at 31 December 2016.

The Glanbia Advance Payment Scheme offers interest free support payments to farmers in periods of weak prices. An amount of €0.5million remains
outstanding at 30 December 2017 (2016: €5.8m) (see note 18). This interest free support was a distribution to members of €0.3 million during the year
ended 31 December 2016.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and Plant and Motor
buildings equipment vehicles Total

Notes €m €m €m €m
Year ended 30 December 2017
Opening carrying amount 3713 632.8 1.8 1,005.9
Exchange differences (21.0) (33.2) (0.1) (54.3)
Acquisitions 34 5.6 1.9 - 7.5
Additions 19.5 96.0 0.4 115.9
Disposals (4.9) (1.1) (0.5) (6.5)
Impairments 5 (8.8) (2.0) - (10.8)
Reclassification (7.0) 7.7 o 0.7
Depreciation charge 5 (13.8) (60.0) (0.6) (74.4)
Closing carrying amount 340.9 642.1 1.0 984.0
At 30 December 2017
Cost 468.6 1,214.6 6.3 1,689.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (127.7) (572.5) (5.3) (705.5)
Carrying amount 340.9 642.1 1.0 984.0
Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening carrying amount 350.0 592.1 0.9 943.0
Exchange differences 5.4 5.9 0.6 11.9
Acquisitions 34 0.2 0.2
Additions 29.3 90.4 13 121.0
Disposals (0.3) (2.0) (0.3) (2.6)
Impairments S (0.5) - (0.5)
Reclassification (0.8) 1.0 (0.2)
Depreciation charge 5 (11.8) (54.8) (0.5) (67.1)
Closing carrying amount 371.3 632.8 1.8 1,005.9
At 31 December 2016
Cost 497.8 1,2121 12.2 1,722.1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (126.5) (579.3) (10.4) (716.2)
Carrying amount 371.3 632.8 1.8 1,005.9

Depreciation expense of €74.4 million was charged to the Group income statement during the year (2016: €67.1 million).

Impairment charge of €10.8 million was charged to the Group income statement during the year (2016: €0.5 million).

Included in the closing cost at 30 December 2017 is an amount of €62.6 million {2016: €59.9 million) incurred in respect of assets under construction.

Included in the cost of additions for 2017 is €1.3 million (2016: €3.6 million) incurred in respect of staff costs capitalised into assets.

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to €1.0 million (2016: €3.3 million) on qualifying assets (see note 10).

Operating lease rentals amounting to €24.2 million (2016: €25.1 million) are charged to the Group income statement (see notes 5 and 31).
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Assets held under finance leases:
The net carrying amount in respect of assets held under finance leases and accordingly capitalised in property, plant and equipment is as follows:

2017 2016
€m €m
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 5.4 5.4
Exchange differences -
Additions - 1.9
Reclassification - (0.7)
Depreciation charge (1.2) (1.2)
Carrying amount at the end of the year 4.2 5.4
At the end of the year
Cost 12.5 14.9
Accumulated depreciation (8.3) (9.5)
Carrying amount 4.2 5.4
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Brands
and other Software Development
Goodwill intangibles costs costs Total
Notes €m €'m £m €'m €m
Year ended 30 December 2017
Opening carrying amount 387.4 518.3 36.8 33.5 976.0
Exchange differences (48.0) {67.3) (2.3) (3.3) (120.9)
Acquisitions 34 68.1 91.3 - - 159.4
Additions - 1.7 21.6 13.5 36.8
Reclassification - - (1.5) - (1.5)
Amortisation 5 - (31.4) (6.7) (27.4) {65.5)
Closing carrying amount 407.5 512.6 47.9 16.3 984.3
At 30 December 2017
Cost 407.5 679.5 117.1 70.9 1,275.0
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (166.9) (69.2) (54.6) (290.7)
Carrying amount 407.5 512.6 47.9 16.3 984.3
Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening carrying amount 374.6 529.6 29.8 28.3 962.3
Exchange differences 115 15.4 0.6 1.1 28.6
Acquisitions 13 15 - = 2.8
Additions - 0.2 12.8 11.8 24.8
Disposals - (0.2) (0.1) - {0.3)
Impairment 5 - = - (1.1) (1.1)
Amortisation 5 - (28.2) (6.3) (6.6) (41.1)
Closing carrying amount 387.4 518.3 36.8 33.5 976.0
At 31 December 2016
Cost 387.4 672.1 102.5 66.2 1,228.2
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (153.8) (65.7) (32.7) (252.2)
Carrying amount 387.4 518.3 36.8 33.5 976.0

Amortisation expense of €65.5 million (2016: €41.1 million) has been charged to operating profit during the year (note 5). The average remaining
amortisation period for software costs is 4.6 years (2016: 7 years) and development costs is 3 years (2016: 4 years).
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Approximately €14.4 million of software additions during the year (2016: €7.0 million) were internally generated which included €12.3 miltion (2016: €6.0
million) of staff costs capitalised. Approximately €13.2 million of development cost additions during the year (2016: €10.6 million) were internally generated

which included €8.3 million (2016: €4.5 million) of staff costs capitalised.

During the year the estimated useful life of development assets was reduced from 6 to 3 years. This change was made following a review of the useful life of
capitalised development costs in respect of newly developed products across the Group to reflect the dynamic environment for new product launches in
their early development stage. The additional amortisation in the year due to the change in estimated useful life amounted to €19.4 million and is included

in exceptional items (note 6).

The amortisation that will be charged in the Group income statement in 2018 is estimated at €12.2 million.

Brands and other intangibles

Total
brands
Custorner and other
Brands relationships Other intangibles
Notes €'m €'m €m €m
Year ended 30 December 2017
Opening carrying amount 339.7 172.0 6.6 518.3
Exchange differences (43.5) (23.6) (0.2) (67.3)
Acquisitions 34 50.8 39.9 0.6 91.3
Additions - - 1.7 1.7
Disposals - - =
Amortisation (8.0) {21.7) (1.7) (31.4)
Closing carrying amount 339.0 166.6 7.0 512.6
At 30 December 2017
Cost 373.9 285.3 20.3 679.5
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (34.9) (118.7) (13.3) {166.9)
Carrying amount 339.0 166.6 7.0 512.6
Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening carrying amount 336.9 185.2 7.4 529.,5
Exchange differences 10.2 5.1 15.3
Acquisitions 15 1.5
Additions 0.2 0.2
Disposals (0.2) (0.2)
Amortisation (7.4) (19.8) {0.8) (28.0)
Closing carrying amount 339.7 172.0 6.6 518.3
At 31 December 2016
Cost 376.5 286.0 9.6 672.1
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (36.8) (114.0) (3.0) (153.8)
Carrying amount 339.7 172.0 6.6 518.3
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Individually material intangible assets with definite useful lives

Carrying Average remaining Carrying  Average remaining
amount amortisation period amount amortisation period
2017 2017 2016 2016
€m Years €m Years
Brands
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — BSN 43.9 33 51.5 34
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Isopure 55.4 37 64.8 38
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — thinkThin 68.0 38 79.4 39
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Body & Fit 11.9 39 B
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Amazing Grass 33.3 39
Customer Relationships
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Optimum Nutrition 28.5 5 39.6 6
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — BSN 20.8 8 27.0 9
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Isopure 21.0 10 26.4 11
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — thinkThin 54.4 11 67.8 12
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Amazing Grass 32.0 14 3

Management reviewed the amortisation period and amortisation method for the intangible assets with definite useful lives at the reporting date.
Management noted no difference in the expected useful life of the assets from the original estimates and noted no change in the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits of the assets.

Indefinite life intangible assets

Carrying Carrying
amount Useful life amaount Useful life
2017 2017 015 2016
€m Years ©m Years
Brands
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Optimum Nutrition 102.3 Indefinite 116.4 Indefinite

As at the reporting date management reviewed the events and circumstances supporting the indefinite useful life assessment. The brand is long established,
continues to have a strong market presence with high customer recognition and there are no material legal, contractual or other factors that limit its useful
life. In addition, the likelihood that market based factors could truncate the brand’s life is relatively remote because of the size, diversification and market
share of the brand in question. It was determined that this asset will continue to contribute indefinitely to the cashflows of the Group.

Impairment tests for goodwill and indefinite life intangibles

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the business
acquisition, rather than where the asset is owned. The CGUs represent the lowest level within the Group at which the associated goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes.

A summary of the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles together with the number of CGUs is analysed as follows:

Indefinite life Indefinite life
dwill i ibl Number Goodwill intangibles Number
2017 2017 of CGUs 2016 2016 of CGUs
€m €m 2017 €m €m 2016

Glanbia plc

Glanbia Performance Nutrition 297.9 102.3 8 265.8 116.4
Glanbia Nutritionals 98.3 - q 110.3 - 4
Glanbia Ireland 11.3 = 2 11.3 = 2
407.5 102.3 14 387.4 116.4 12
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In accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’, the CGUs to which significant amounts of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles have been allocated
and the discount rates used are as follows:

Indefinite life Indefinite life
Goodwill i bl Discount Goodwill intangibles
2017 2017 rate 2016 2016 Discount
€m €m 2017 €m €m rate 2016
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — thinkThin 77.6 - 7.08% 88.3 - 7.5%
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Optimum Nutrition 729 102.3 7.76% 82.9 116.4 7.9%
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Isopure 52.9 - 7.08% 60.2 - 7.6%
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Amazing Grass 35.4 - 7.08%
Glanbia Performance Nutrition — Body & Fit 28.0 - 7.47%
Glanbia Nutritionals — Customised Solutions 67.1 - 7.08% 76.3 - 7.5%
Other CGU’s without individually significant goodwill 73.6 - 6.18%-8.65% 79.7 = 6.4%-9.2%
407.5 102.3 387.4 116.4

Impairment testing methodology, inputs, assumptions and results {Glanbia plc):
Goodwill and indefinite life intangibles are subject to impairment testing on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications that they might be
impaired. The recoverable amount of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles allocated to a CGU is determined based on a value in use computation.

The cash flow projections are based on the 2018 budget formally approved by, and the strategic plan for 2019 and 2020 as presented to, the Board of
Directors. In cases where management have strategic plans beyond 2020 these numbers are also used in the projections. In preparing the 2018 budget and
strategic plan, management considered the Group's history of earnings, past experience and cash flow generation. Management also considered external
sources of information pertaining to estimated growth of the relevant market, customer and consumer behaviours, competitor activity and developing
trends in the industry in which the CGU operates in. Business sustaining capital expenditure and working capital requirements are estimated by assigning
values to the investment required to support the estimated future profitability taking into account historic investment patterns and past experience. The
cash flow projections exclude the impact of future development and acquisition activity.

A terminal value assuming 2% growth into perpetuity was used. This growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the industries in
which each CGU operates. The application of the terminal value has taken account of the Group's strong financial position, its established history of earnings
growth and cashflow generation and its proven ability to integrate value enhancing acquisitions.

The present value of future cashflows is calculated using pre—tax discount rates which are the Group's weighted average cost of capital, calculated using the
Capital Asset Pricing Model adjusted for the Group's specific beta coefficient together with a country risk premium, adjusted to reflect risks associated with
the CGU.

No impairments arose in either 2017 or 2016.

Sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivities have been performed across the CGUs:
estimated future profitability 10% lower than managements estimates
g terminal value assuming zero growth
J pre—tax discount rate 1% higher than managements estimates.

Applying these assumptions would not have required the Group to recognise any impairment against goodwill or indefinite life intangibles. Management

believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2017 2016
Notes €m €m
At the beginning of the year 2.7 7.1
Share of profit after tax (0.1) (0.3)
Remeasurements defined benefit plan (net of deferred tax) = -
Dividend received =
Transfer to interests in Joint Ventures 16 - (4.1)
Transfer to investment in subsidiary %
At the end of the year 2.6 2.7

Nature of interests in Associates
Place of business/

Name of entity country of incorporation
Greenfield Dairy Partners Limited Kilkenny, Ireland
Co—Operative Animal Health Limited Tullow, Co Carlow, ireland

Group’s % of ownership
intarest

33.33%*
50%*

Primary activity
Milk products
Agri chemicals

* Glanbia Ireland DAC’s percentage ownership interest.

The Assaciates listed above have share capital, consisting of ordinary shares.

Co—Operative Animal Health Limited provides nutrition and veterinary solutions to the agricultural sector in ireland and complements the Group’s Dairy
Ireland business. In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, Co—Operative Animal Health Limited is included in the Group result as an Associate using
the equity method of accounting. The Group, despite holding 50% of the ordinary share capital of this entity, has significant influence and not joint control

over the entity, due to the nature of its voting rights.

Greenfield Dairy Partners Limited was established to finance the development of the Kilkenny Greenfield Dairy farm and compliments the Group’s Glanbia

Ireland DAC business.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in its Associates.
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Summarised financial information for Associates
Set out below is the summarised financial information for the Group's Associates, which are accounted for using the equity method.

The information below reflects the amounts presented in the Financial Statements of the Associates reconciled to the carrying value of the Group’s interest
in Associates.

2017 2016

€m €m
Associate balance sheet (100%):
Non—current assets 3.0 31
Current assets 15.0 15.0
Non—current liabilities (1.2) (1.4)
Current liabilities (11.2) (10.9)
Net assets 5.6 5.8
Reconciliation to the carrying value of the Group’s interest in Associate:
Carrying value of Group’s interest in Associate 2.6 2.7
Associate income statement (100%):
Revenue 62.7 32.0
(Loss) before tax (0.2} (0.5)
(Loss) after tax (0.2) (0.5)
Total comprehensive (expense) (0.2) (0.5)
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of total comprehensive {(expense)/income:
Group'’s share of total comprehensive (expense) (0.1) {0.2)
Further details in relation to principal Associates are outlined in note 37.
16. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2017 2016

Notes €m €m

At the beginning of the year 71.5 64.5
Share of profit after tax 36.7 13.5
Remeasurements — defined benefit pension plans (net of deferred tax) 3.2 (3.4)
Fair value movement on cashflow hedges {net of deferred tax) 22(d) 0.5 2.1
Income tax movement 4.3 6.9
Dividend received (15.8) (13.8)
Exchange differences (6.3) (2.4)
Transfer from interests in Associates 15 - 4.1
At the end of the year 94.1 71.5
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Nature of interests in Joint Ventures

Place of business/ Group’s % of Primary

Name of entity country of incorporation Notes  ownership interest activity
Southwest Cheese Company, LLC Clovis, New Mexico, US (a) 50%* Cheese and nutritional ingredients
Cheese

Glanbia Cheese Limited Magheralin and Llangefni, UK (b) 51%* products
Malting Company of Ireland Limited Togher, Co Cork, Ireland (c) 50%** Malting
South East Port Services Limited Kilkenny, ireland (d) 49%** Port services
Corman Miloko Ireland Limited Carrick-on-Suir, Co.Tipperary, Iretand (e) 45%** Butter, oil and dairy spreads

* Glanbia plc’s percentage ownership interest.
**Glanbia Ireland DAC's percentage ownership interest.

The Joint Ventures listed above have share capital, consisting solely of ordinary shares, membership interests or membership units and preference shares.

The Group holds 60% of the preference shares in South East Port Services Limited through its subsidiary D. Walsh & Seons Limited. No voting rights are
attached to these shares.

The percentage of ownership interest is in line with the Group’s control of voting rights in the entity at year end, with the exception of Glanbia Cheese
Limited (see note (b) below).

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(f)

Southwest Cheese Company, LLC (SWC) is a large scale manufacturer of premium quality block cheese and whey protein ingredients for consumer
foods and beverage markets internationally. The Group act as an agent on behalf of SWC and earn commission on the sale of whey protein products
and cheese.

Glanbia Cheese Limited is a leading European mozzarella producer. Its customers include most of the leading pizza and pasta chains, food service
operators, industrial food manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers across Europe and internationally. The two plants (Magheralin and Llangefni) are
strategically located in productive agricultural heartlands which helps to ensure a secure and consistent supply of high—quality milk. The Group holds
51% of the share capital of Glanbia Cheese Limited but this entity is considered to be a Joint Venture as the Group does not have control of the
company as it has equal representation on the Board of Directors, along with its Joint Venture partner Leprino Foods Company who direct the relevant
activities of the business. The Group controls only 50% of the voting rights and is entitled to appoint only 50% of the total number of Directors to the
Board.

Malting Company of Ireland Limited provides Irish malted barley products to the brewing and distilling industry. This company was transferred from
Glanbia plc to Glanbia Ireland DAC during 2017.

South East Port Services Limited is engaged in the provision of storage, stevedoring and shipping agency services. This company was transferred from
Glanbia plc to Glanbia Ireland DAC during 2017. Glanbia Ireland DAC holds 49% of the share capita! of South East Port Services Limited, but this entity is
considered to be a Joint Venture due to the composition of the voting rights and the Board of Directors.

Corman Miloko Ireland Limited produces butter, oil and dairy spreads. Glanbia Ireland DAC holds 45% of the share capital of Corman Miloko Ireland
Limited, but this entity is considered to be a Joint Venture due to the composition of the voting rights and the Board of Directors.

Commitments and contingent li